

Public Transport Service Conditions of Contract

PTC 2015/3

(Unit 4 – Belleknowes, Brockville, Halfway Bush, Kenmure, Ocean Grove, Ross Creek, St Kilda, and Waverley)

27 November 2015

PTC 2015/3 Unit 4 Conditions of Contract Page 1 of 46

Contract PTC2015-3 SIGNED for and on behalf of OTAGO REGIONAL **COUNCIL** by: P Bodeker (Chief Executive)) Witnessed by **SIGNED** by the Contractor Go Bus Limited by: Director Director Witnessed by

Conditions of Contract

Otago Regional Council

Table of Contents

1	Interpretation and Definitions	1
2	The Relationship between the Contractor and Council	11
3	Relationship Framework	11
4	Contract Type	11
5	Commencement of Contract	12
6	Entire Agreement	12
7	The Service	12
8	Duty to Carry Passengers	14
9	Fares	15
10	SuperGold Card	15
11	Ticketing Revenue	16
12	Integrated Ticketing	19
13	Other Passenger Transport Technology	21
14	The Contract Price	23
15	Contract Price Reset	23
16	Service Level Variations	23
17	Payment	25
18	Deductions	25
19	Fare Adjustment	26
20	Managing Customer Experience	26
21	Privacy	26
22	Drivers	27
23	Customer Feedback	27
24	Timetables	28
25	Support Fee	28
26	Publicity	28
27	Vehicles	29
28	Initial Vehicle Inspection	29
29	Further Vehicle Inspections	30
30	Branding	30
31	Signage	31
32	Head signs	32
33	Subcontracting and Assignment	32
34	Health and Safety	32
35	Other Legal Obligations	34
36	Quality Assurance	35
37	Insurance	36
38	Indemnity	36
39	Bond	36
40	Key Performance Indicators	37
41	Warranties	37
42	Warnings and Liquidated Damages	37
43	Dispute Resolution	38
44	Cancellation by Council for Non-Performance	41
45	Termination of the Contract by Council on Notice	44
46	Termination where Service not Viable	44
47	Renewal	45
48	Contractor's Obligations on Cancellation, Termination or Expiry	45
49	Access to Information	45
50	Surveys	45
51	Service of Notices	45
52	Contractor's Representative	46
53	Contract Manager	46
54	Change of Name	46
55	Gratuities, Collusion, Conflict of Interest	46

Otago Regional Council Conditions of Contract

56 Registration of Exempt Public Transport Services	46
Schedule 1 – Timetables	1
Schedule 2 – Route details, distances and peak bus	1
Schedule 3 - Route Maps	
Schedule 4 - Bond Agreement	1
Schedule 5 - Vehicle Quality Standards	1
Schedule 6 - Annual Business Planning	1
Schedule 7 - Financial Incentive Mechanism	1
Schedule 8- Key Performance Indicators	1

1 Interpretation and Definitions

1.1 **Definitions**

1.1.1 In this contract, unless the context otherwise requires:

"Bus Hub" means the bus interchange facility in the central city which will replace the current inner city bus stands 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 7, and 8.

"Call centre" means Council's service provider contracted for the supply of bus related information to members of the public;

"Commencement of the Contract" is the date upon which the contract has full force and effect under clause 5.1;

"Contract price" means the first year gross contract price (GST exclusive) as stated in the Contractor's tender accepted by Council, unless otherwise agreed;

"Contractor" means the person who is awarded the contract to provide the service:

"Contractor's representative" means the person authorised by the Contractor to deal with the Council on all matters pertaining to this contract;

"Council or principal" means the Otago Regional Council, a body corporate under the Local Government Act 2002 and includes any successor to the Council, its officers, employees and duly authorised agents;

"Contract Manager" means the person authorised by the Council to manage the contract as notified under this contract;

"Concession" means a fare approved by Council and provided to a particular class of passenger, and included in the fare schedule;

"Crown" includes any Minister, Ministry, department of state, Crown entity or Crown agency or any other instrument of the New Zealand Government;

"Fare" means the fare set by Council for the Service from time to time and notified to the Contractor, including any concessions;

"Fare schedule" means the schedule of fares set by Council for the Service from time to time, and notified to the contractor.

"Financial Incentive Mechanism" means the Contractor's share of increased fare revenue calculated in accordance with Schedule 7;

"GoCard" means the Council's integrated ticketing system for the collection and disbursement of fare revenue amongst all Contractors providing services on Council's networks;

"Gross price" means the cost to be paid by the Council to the Contractor for the provision of the service and adjusted in accordance with the conditions of contract to reflect changes in the Public Transport (Bus) Cost index published by the New Zealand Transport Agency and available on its website:

"Integrated Ticketing System" means any Electronic Ticketing System (ETS) specified by the Council from time to time, including any multi-operator ticketing system;

"NZTA" means the New Zealand Transport Agency a Crown entity, and includes any successor to NZTA;

"Off peak" means bus passenger transport services commenced between 9.00am and 3.00pm inclusive and after 6.30pm on Mondays, to Fridays inclusive excluding public holidays and all passenger transport services undertaken on Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays;

"Peak" means transport services which are not off peak;

"Personnel" means all persons used by the Contractor to carry out the Contract, including the Contractor's employees, agents, subcontractors and the employees of subcontractors;

"Provisional Item 1" means the proposed variation to the service identified in the request for pricing and priced in the Proposal accepted by Council, that may be implemented, from 1 July 2019;

"Proposal" means the contractors response to Councils Request for Pricing for the services provided under this contract

"Requirements for urban buses in New Zealand, New Zealand's common standard for urban bus quality (2014)". Unless otherwise stated, any reference to the "RUB" standard will refer to the full standard as set out in the document "Requirements for urban buses in New Zealand", and not to the Section 8 Existing Buses standard in the same document. For the avoidance of doubt RUB includes all non-mandatory requirements expressly stated by Council in the Vehicle Quality Standards and described in the RFP documents;

"RFP" means Public Transport Service Request for Pricing 2015/3 Unit 4 dated 27 November 2015

"RFP documents" means all the documents comprising Request for Pricing RFP 2015/3;

"RPTP" means the operative Regional Public Transport Plan for Otago made by Council under the Land Transport Management Act or its equivalent;

"Service" means the contracted public transport service which is the subject of this contract;

"Service Commencement Date" means the date determined under 7.2 of these conditions of contract.

"Stage 1" means the proposed variation to the service identified in the Request for Pricing that will be implemented on the agreed commencement date.

"Stage 1A" means the proposed variation to the service identified in the Request for Pricing that will be implemented, on commencement of operations for this contract through the bus Hub.

"SuperGold card" means Ministry of Social Developments subsidised travel scheme;

"Unit" means Unit 4 as described in the Otago Regional Council's Public Transport Plan 2014 and in the RFP documents;

"Variable rates" means the rates in the successful Go Bus Response Form B2 or otherwise agreed;

"Vehicle" means the vehicle or vehicles to be used by the Contractor to provide the service;

"Vehicle Quality Standards" means the vehicle quality standards contained within Schedule 5 Vehicle Quality Standards including RUB.

1.2 **Interpretation**

- 1.2.1 *"Person"* includes a corporation sole, body corporate and an unincorporated body of persons.
- 1.2.2 Parts of speech and grammatical forms of a word that is defined have corresponding meanings in this agreement.
- 1.2.3 Words in the singular include the plural and words in the plural include the singular.
- 1.2.4 "Operating day" means a day upon which the service is to be provided by the Contractor.
- 1.2.5 "Working day" means a day of the week, other than:
 - 1.2.5.1 A Saturday, a Sunday, Waitangi Day, Good Friday, Easter Monday, Anzac Day, the Sovereign's birthday and Labour Day; and

- 1.2.5.2 A day in the period beginning 25 December in a year and ending on 2 January in the following year; and
- 1.2.5.3 If 1 January falls on a Friday, the following Monday; and
- 1.2.5.4 If 1 January falls on a Saturday or Sunday, the following Monday and Tuesday, as the case may be; and
- 1.2.5.5 The day the Council observes as Otago Anniversary Day; and
- 1.2.5.6 Any other day which by law is a public holiday.
- 1.2.6 The headings in this document may be considered in ascertaining its meaning.
- 1.2.7 References to any statute, regulation, rule or other legal requirement including:
 - 1.2.7.1 A reference to any amendment to that statute, regulation, rule or other legal requirement;
 - 1.2.7.2 Any statute, regulation, rules or other legal requirement made in substitution for that statute, regulation, rule or other legal requirement.

1.3 Relevant Law

1.3.1 The contract is governed by and construed with reference to the law of New Zealand.

1.4 New Zealand currency to be used

1.4.1 All prices and payments made under the contract must be in New Zealand currency and paid in New Zealand.

1.5 **Use of English Language**

1.5.1 All communications between the Council and the Contractor must be in English.

1.6 **Definition of Time Period**

- 1.6.1 A period of time described as beginning at, on, or with a specified day, act or event includes that day or the day of that act or event.
- 1.6.2 The period of time described as beginning from or after a specified day, act or event does not include that day or the day of that act or event.
- 1.6.3 The period of time described as ending by, on, at or with, or as continuing to or until, a specified day, act, or event, includes that day or the day of the act or event.

- 1.6.4 The period of time described as ending before a specified day, act or event does not include that day or the day of that act or event.
- 2 The Relationship between the Contractor and Council
- 2.1 The Contractor is an independent Contractor in all respects.
- 2.2 The Contractor is not an employee or agent of the Council.
- 2.3 The Council and the Contractor are not in partnership, nor engaged in a joint venture.

3 Relationship Framework

3.1 Principles for Working Together

- 3.1.1 A collaborative approach between Council and the Contractor will promote a high quality customer experience and increased patronage growth. The principles of collaboration are:
 - 3.1.1.1 Recognising the objectives of both parties are different, but both share a desire to increase patronage;
 - 3.1.1.2 A commitment to working together to reduce the reliance on public subsidy;
 - 3.1.1.3 Building trust; and
 - 3.1.1.4 No surprises.
- 3.1.2 The collaborative approach will be implemented by:
 - 3.1.2.1 Annual Business Planning. (Schedule 6)
 - 3.1.2.2 Financial Incentive Mechanism. (Schedule 7)
 - 3.1.2.3 Key Performance Indicators (Schedule 8).

4 Contract Type

4.1 This contract is a gross price contract with a revenue based financial incentive mechanism.

5 Commencement of Contract

- 5.1 The contract is in full force and effect when the Council gives the Contractor notice of acceptance of the Contractor's Proposal or or if the Contractor's Proposal is not accepted by the Council, the earlier of;
 - 5.1.1 The date of the agreement on pricing by the Council and the Contractor; or
 - 5.1.2 The date of the arbitrator's award setting the pricing for the contract in accordance with the RFP.

6 Entire Agreement

- 6.1 This contract comprises:
 - 6.1.1 The Contractor's Proposal(but subject to 6.1.3):
 - 6.1.2 The RFP documents;
 - 6.1.3 The pricing for the contract agreed by the Council and the Contractor or set by arbitration in accordance with the RFP.
- This contract contains the entire agreement between the Contractor and the Council.
- 6.3 If there is any inconsistency between the documents comprising this contract, then precedence is determined in the following order:
 - 6.3.1 The pricing for the Contract agreed by the Council and the Contractor or set by arbitration in accordance with the RFP.
 - 6.3.2 These conditions of contract;
 - 6.3.3 The Request for Pricing;
 - 6.3.4 The Contractor's Proposal.

7 The Service

7.1 Contractor to provide the service

- 7.1.1 The Contractor must provide the Service.
- 7.1.2 The Contractor must provide the service strictly in accordance with the terms and conditions of the contract.

- 7.1.3 The Contractor must operate each and every trip shown in the timetable in Schedule 1, incorporating Schedule 1A (Stage 1 and Stage 1A), Schedule 1B) (Stage 2 and 2A), and, if requested, Schedule 1C, (Provisional Item 1) and:
 - 7.1.3.1 Begin a trip at the specified departure time; and
 - 7.1.3.2 Follow the corresponding route for each timetabled trip as set out in Schedules 2 and 3.

except in circumstances beyond the control of the operator.

7.2 Commencement of Service

- 7.2.1 The Contractor must commence the Service on and from a date to be agreed by the Council and the Contractor (but in any event not before 1 April 2016 and no later than 1 July 2016).
- 7.2.2 The Council reserves the right to introduce "Provisional Item 1";
 - 7.2.2.1 on 1 July 2019, or
 - 7.2.2.2 on1 July 2020, or
 - 7.2.2.3 not at all, or
 - 7.2.2.4 at such other time as agreed
- 7.2.3 The Council shall notify the Contractor in writing no less than 4 months prior to the date for the commencement of the services in Provisional Item 1.
- 7.2.4 The Contractor must commence Provisional Item 1 on the date notified by the Council in accordance with 7.2.3.

7.3 **Duration of Service**

7.3.1 The Contractor must provide the service until the contract expires or is otherwise terminated in accordance with this contract.

7.4 **Duration of Contract**

7.4.1 This contract shall expire on the completion of the last timetabled trip commenced before 11.59pm on the day preceding the 12th anniversary of the commencement of the first service operated under this contract, unless earlier terminated in accordance with the provisions of this contract.

7.5 Contract expiry does not extinguish certain rights

- 7.5.1 The expiry or termination of the contract does not:
 - 7.5.1.1 Extinguish any rights or obligations or remedies which accrue to the Contractor or the Council before its expiry;
 - 7.5.1.2 Extinguish the dispute resolution provisions in clause 43, except as provided in clause 44.18
 - 7.5.1.3 Extinguish the Contractor's obligations under clause 48.

8 Duty to Carry Passengers

- 8.1 The Contractor must ensure:
 - 8.1.1 All passengers who wish to use the service are collected from all bus stops on the designated route and
 - 8.1.2 If a service is not run, without good cause, that no passenger is required to wait for more than 15 minutes of the scheduled departure time for a replacement service and
 - 8.1.3 That any passenger in a wheelchair or with a child in a pram/stroller/carrier as far as is reasonably practicable is given priority use of the priority wheelchair space on the bus and
 - 8.1.4 Where additional capacity is required, the Contractor and Council will cooperate to provide that additional capacity. No additional payment shall be made to the Contractor for supplying additional carrying capacity, unless it is demonstrated by the Contractor there is an additional cost actually incurred by the Contractor. Any payment will reimburse the Contractor only for the cost actually incurred.
- 8.2 The Contractor's driver may refuse to carry any passenger or require any passenger to disembark from the vehicle, if the driver believes, on reasonable grounds:
 - 8.2.1 The driver's personal safety or any passenger's safety is threatened;
 - 8.2.2 The person appears to be under the influence of alcohol or drugs, is in a filthy condition, or is consuming food or drink;
 - 8.2.3 The person is noisy or violent or is disturbing the peace;
 - 8.2.4 The person is accompanied by an animal, unless that person's sight is impaired and the animal is a guide dog;
 - 8.2.5 The person has previously vandalised vehicles operated by the Contractor or contracted by Council or has previously defrauded or attempted to defraud the Contractor or the Council.

- 8.2.6 The person has, on some prior occasion been banned from using a Council contracted service for any reason.
- 8.3 The Contractor's driver may refuse to carry a passenger who is unable to pay the correct fare for the passenger's intended journey.
- 8.4 The Contractor must refuse to carry a passenger if the Council has instructed the Contractor in writing that person is not to be carried as a passenger.

9 Fares

- 9.1 The Contractor must charge and collect the fare payable by each passenger, including all personnel of the Contractor other than the driver, for the journey to be undertaken by that passenger.
- 9.2 The Contractor must record each passenger and his or her journey through the ticketing system which the Council directs the Contractor to use.
- 9.3 The Contractor shall charge the fares set by the Council in its fare schedule and notified to the Contractor.
- 9.4 Unless the Council advises the Contractor in writing, the Contractor must issue to each passenger on boarding, a ticket for the journey to be undertaken by that passenger.
- 9.5 The Contractor must not charge a passenger more or less than the fare set by Council.
- 9.6 The Contractor must not lower or raise fares.
- 9.7 The Council reserves the right to alter fares and shall give the Contractor not less than 10 working days written' notice of any such alteration.
- 9.8 The Contractor must ensure that Council-approved means of identification are presented by passengers seeking fare concessions.
- 9.9 The Contractor is responsible for ensuring fare security at all times.

10 SuperGold Card

- 10.1 If the Council participates in the Government's SuperGold off Peak travel Scheme, the Contractor must, for the services provided under this contract participate in the Governments SuperGold off peak travel scheme and must sign a participation agreement if called upon by the Council to do so.
- 10.2 The Contractor must comply with any Government requirements for SuperGold.
- The Crown may in its sole discretion either decrease or increase the reimbursement rate from time to time.

- The Council shall not be liable for any loss resulting from a decision by the Crown to vary the rate of reimbursement for SuperGold off peak travel or for any consequential effect on the Financial Incentive Mechanism.
- 10.5 The Contractor shall ensure that only those passengers who qualify receive the free off peak service.

11 Ticketing Revenue

- 11.1 "Ticketing revenue" includes all payments received by the Contractor for fares, travel products, card issuance fees, concession payments (including but not limited to SuperGold reimbursement), stored value top-ups and any other payment received by the Contractor from a third party for the use or provision of the Service.
- 11.2 All ticketing revenue is the Council's property.
- 11.3 The Contractor is responsible for the security of ticketing revenue.
- 11.4 The Contractor must at all times operate in accordance with the ticketing revenue control procedures in the Contractor's Proposal.
- The Contractor may amend the ticketing revenue control procedures only with the prior written approval of the Council, which approval shall not be reasonably withheld. The Contractor must at all times operate in accordance with the amended plan.
- 11.6 The Contractor must enquire into the honesty of all persons employed or to be employed by it to perform this contract.
- 11.7 Without limitation, the enquiries required by clause 11.6 above include:
 - 11.7.1 Obtaining details of that person's criminal history, if any;
 - 11.7.2 Other checks with Police:
 - 11.7.3 Checks with previous employers;
 - 11.7.4 Checks with the Council.
- The Contractor must not use any person to carry out this contract unless the Contractor is satisfied on reasonable grounds that the person is honest, trustworthy and appropriately skilled.
- 11.9 All ticketing revenue collected must be accurately recorded and balance with the information recorded through the ticketing system.
- 11.10 The Contractor must notify the Council in writing immediately if it becomes aware of any discrepancy between its record of the ticketing revenue collected and the information recorded through the Council's ticketing system.
- 11.11 Each working day Contractor must bank all ticketing revenue received into a bank account (ticketing revenue account).

- 11.12 The Contractor must advise the Council in writing of the name of the bank and of the ticketing revenue account details at least 10 working days before the commencement of the Service.
- 11.13 The Contractor must not change the bank or bank account details without first obtaining the written approval of the Council. The new bank and bank account details must be given to the Council.
- 11.14 The Contractor must ensure that the Council receives hard copy bank statements for this ticketing revenue account on a weekly basis.
- 11.15 The Contractor must ensure, if requested, the Council has remote access to view the balance held in the ticketing revenue bank account at all times.
- 11.16 The Council must treat all banking information supplied or accessed by it in accordance with this contract as confidential and must only use that information for the purposes of this contract.
- 11.17 The Contractor must maintain at all times a credit balance in the ticketing revenue account. The credit balance at any time must not be less than the total ticketing revenue payable by the Contractor to the Council.
- 11.18 The Contractor must pay the ticketing revenue to the Council received without deduction or set-off of any kind whatsoever.
- 11.19 The Contractor must pay all bank charges, fees and other expenses out of the Contractor's own money.
- 11.20 If money other than ticketing revenue from the Service is paid into the ticketing revenue account, then the Council has a first charge over the entire sum in the ticketing revenue account. The amount secured by the first charge is the total amount of ticketing revenue owed to Council which has not been paid to the Council.
- 11.21 If any money is withdrawn from the ticketing revenue account and is not paid to the Council, the Council has a first charge over any asset (including any other cash fund) to which the money can be traced. The amount secured by the first charge is the total amount of the ticketing revenue appropriated by the Contractor.
- To give effect to the charges in clauses 11.20 and 11.21, the contractor grants to Council a security interest in;

- 11.22.1 All ticketing revenue received by the contractor;
- 11.22.2 All funds held by the contractor which includes ticketing revenue;
- 11.22.3 All bank accounts into which ticketing revenue is deposited and the proceeds of all such bank accounts.
- 11.23 Nothing in clauses 11.20, 11.21 and 11.22 releases the Contractor from its own liability for any shortfall in accounting for and paying ticketing revenue to the Council
- 11.24 The Contractor must fully indemnify the Council for all shortfalls between ticketing revenue received and ticketing revenue actually paid to the Council.
- 11.25 When accounting to the Council for ticketing revenue, the Contractor must supply to the Council the following documentation on request:
 - 11.25.1 Daily cash reconciliation summary.
 - 11.25.2 Daily cash reconciliation summary for each driver.
 - 11.25.3 All supporting information, including driver pay-in receipts.
- 11.26 The Contractor must keep complete, accurate, readily intelligible and verifiable records of all ticketing revenue received by the Contractor and provide copies of those records immediately upon request by the Council.
- 11.27 If the Contractor becomes aware of any issues at all with ticketing revenue security, the Contractor must immediately:
 - 11.27.1 Inform the Council in writing, stating what the concern is, why the concern has arisen, what action has been taken and what preventative steps have been implemented to prevent repetition.
 - 11.27.2 If it appears any offence may have occurred, report the matter to the Police and provide the Council with evidence that the incident has been reported.
 - 11.27.3 Notify its insurer and provide the Council with evidence that a claim has been made; the Contractor must inform the Council of its insurer's response; if a claim is accepted by the insurer, any insurance proceeds must be assigned by the Contractor to the Council if the Contractor has not fully compensated the Council for loss of ticketing revenue.
- 11.28 Ten working days before the commencement of the contract, the Contractor must give the Council a direct debit authority enabling the Council to withdraw the ticketing revenue due to it on the settlement dates set by the Council.
- 11.29 The Contractor must not revoke the authority until after this contract ends.

- 11.30 The Council must issue to the Contractor a written settlement statement at least three working days before withdrawing any funds.
- 11.31 The Council may change the practices and procedures relating to accounting for and payment of ticketing revenue by the Contractor to the Council. The Council must give the Contractor three months' written notice before commencing any new procedures.
- 11.32 The Contractor must note that stored value and top up payments are not subject to GST.

12 Integrated Ticketing

- The Contractor must participate in the Council's integrated ticketing system (GoCard), which is currently provided by Electronic Ticketing Systems Limited, and/or any replacement, when providing the service.
- The Contractor must at all times comply with the "business rules" for the operation and use of the Council's integrated ticketing system. The Council may modify or replace the "business rules" at any time by giving written notice to the Contractor.
- 12.3 Before the Service begins, the Contractor must install at its own cost, and to Council's ticketing equipment supplier's specification, the integrated ticketing system equipment on the buses and in the premises to be used in the Service.
- 12.4 The Contractor must pay the rental, stipulated by the Council for the hire of the integrated ticketing equipment to the Council.
- 12.5 Data collected by the integrated ticketing system is the property of the Council.
- 12.6 The Contractor may use the data only for the purposes of providing the Service and complying with this contract.
- 12.7 Council may share data collected through the integrated ticketing system with the Contractor if Council considers it necessary for planning, management or contract performance purposes.
- 12.8 The Contractor must return any data provided by the Council immediately upon request by the Council and in any event, immediately on the end of the contract.
- 12.9 To meet the requirements of Council's ticketing system the Contractor must:
 - 12.9.1 Ensure all equipment is installed and operational prior to the commencement of services.
 - 12.9.2 At its own cost provide and maintain a dedicated secure internet access and computer connection for a personal computer PC (to be supplied by Council).
 - 12.9.3 Use the Council supplied PC solely for the ticketing system.

- 12.9.4 Provide at the Contractors own cost an appropriate level of training to all drivers, operational, and support staff in the use of the system to ensure that all are competent in the use of the system
- 12.9.5 Ensure that all staff required to use the reporting and management software have an adequate understanding of the system and its requirements
- 12.9.6 Rent one ticketing machine per bus including all back up buses required for this contract at \$160.00 plus GST per machine per month (to be increased annually in accordance with the Public Transport (Bus) Cost Index published by NZTA from 1 July 2015). Plus an additional onsite training machine.
- 12.9.7 Rent one depot reader at \$210.00 plus GST per month (to be increased annually in accordance with the Public Transport (Bus) Cost Index published by NZTA from 1 July 2015).
- 12.9.8 Purchase all necessary consumables for the ticketing equipment provided by Council through Council's Ticketing provider.
- 12.9.9 Ensure each driver is issued with his or her own data module, login ID and personal PIN number on a daily basis.
- 12.9.10 Ensure all modules are downloaded to the depot reader at the completion of each drivers shift and not later than 12.30am for the previous day's service.
- 12.9.11 Maintain and supply to Council no less than twice yearly and/or upon request a register of all ticketing equipment and modules held by the Contractor.
- 12.9.12 Provide for the routine maintenance of all ticketing equipment in accordance with Council's suppliers requirements. (for the avoidance of doubt routine maintenance does not include repairs).
- 12.9.13 Ensure that all duty rosters are provided to the ticketing system supplier in an approved format and in a timeframe acceptable to the ticketing system provider and Council.
- 12.9.14 Ensure that all drivers correctly code all shift duties, trips and routes into the ticketing equipment.
- 12.9.15 Ensure all drivers correctly enter the appropriate fare, boarding location and destination into the ticketing equipment.
- 12.9.16 Ensure the depot reader and Council supplied PC are connected and accessible to the ticketing system provider at all times.
- 12.9.17 Ensure all shorts and overs are recorded into the ticketing system on a daily basis.

- 12.9.18 Comply with all requests from Council's ticketing system provider.
- 12.9.19 Ensure that all drivers enter all information required including but not necessarily limited to the correct duty, route, trips, zone changes, fares, bus and driver details and log on and log off in accordance with the instructions of the ticketing system provider.
- During the contract, the Council will change the integrated ticketing system. The Council will pay for the installation of any new ticketing system and equipment, other than the system installed before the commencement of the Service under this contract. The Contractor must cooperate with the Council and its integrated ticketing system supplier in making its fleet and premises available at all reasonable times for installation and maintenance of equipment.
- 12.11 Council and its integrated ticketing system supplier will train the Contractor's staff in the use of any new system at the Council's cost. The Contractor must ensure all employees who participate or may participate in providing the Service are fully trained in and are competent in the use of the integrated ticketing system.
- 12.12 If a new integrated ticketing system is installed, then a new rental may be set by the Council for the equipment installed on the Contractor's buses and in the Contractor's premises. The Council will adjust the gross price of the contract by the difference in the cost between the current rental prescribed in clauses 12.9.6 and 12.9.7 and the amount of the new rental payable (whether upwards or downwards).
- 12.13 Council will reimburse the contractor for the costs incurred by the contractor, acting reasonably, in implementing any new ticketing system.
- 13 Other Passenger Transport Technology
- During the contract the following technology may be installed by Council on some or all buses and in the Contractor's premises:
 - 13.1.1 Global Positioning Systems (GPS) or Automated Vehicle Locators (AVL) and associated communication links
 - 13.1.2 Real time public transport information
 - 13.1.3 Closed circuit television (CCTV) cameras
 - 13.1.4 Audible bus stop announcements
 - 13.1.5 Public Wi-Fi
 - 13.1.6 Any other passenger transport technology

- 13.2 If any of these features are installed:
 - 13.2.1 The Council will pay the installation costs directly associated with equipment supplied by Council. The Contractor must cooperate with the Council and its supplier by making its fleet and premises available at all reasonable times for the installation and maintenance of equipment.
 - 13.2.2 Council and its supplier will provide initial training in the use of the new feature at the Council's costs. Training for the new technology will be provided by the Council at the Council's cost on a "train the trainer" basis.
 - 13.2.3 The Contractor must ensure all employees who participate or may participate in providing the Service are fully trained and competent in the use of the new feature.
 - 13.2.4 The Council may set a rental for the new feature payable by the Contractor. The Council will add the annual amount of rental payable by the Contractor to the gross price of the contract.
 - 13.2.5 Where the equipment/systems supplied by Council replace equipment/systems in use by the Contractor then any costs associated with the operation of the existing equipment/system shall be deducted from the gross price of the contract.
 - 13.2.6 The Contractor must at all times operate the new feature and carry out all routine maintenance requirements at its own cost.
 - 13.2.7 Where necessary the Council will arrange for the support and maintenance (other than routine maintenance) of the new feature.
 - 13.2.8 The Contractor is entitled to extra payment for the installation of the new feature where the contractor can demonstrate to the satisfaction of Council acting reasonably that additional costs have been incurred by the Contractor.
 - 13.2.9 The Contractor is entitled to extra payment for the, use and maintenance of the new feature where the contractor can demonstrate to the satisfaction of Council acting reasonably that additional costs have been incurred by the Contractor. Any claim by the contractor shall take into consideration any operational efficiencies and cost savings received as a result of the new feature.
- 13.3 The Contractor must take all reasonable steps to prevent damage and/or maintain the functionality of any Council supplied equipment, and will be liable for any damage or malfunction caused by the Contractor or its staff.
- 13.4 In the event that any of the equipment and/or system fails the Contractor must immediately notify Council and its supplier or nominated repairer of the fault and without delay replace, or make available for replacement or repair immediately.

14 The Contract Price

- 14.1 The contract price is the gross contract priceagreed by Council and the Contractor or the price set by arbitration in accordance with the RFP, unless otherwise agreed.
- The variable rates are the variable rates agreed by the Council and the Contractor or the price set by arbitration in accordance with the RFP, unless otherwise agreed.
- The gross contract price must be adjusted each quarter, from the quarter ending 31 December2015, in accordance with changes in the Public Transport (Bus) Cost Index published by NZTA. Any consequential price adjustments must be calculated and paid by the Council to the Contractor, or by the Contractor to the Council, as the case may be, as soon as practicable after publication of the index for the related quarter.
- 14.4 Upon commencement of "Provisional Item 1" in accordance with clauses 7.2.3 and 7.2.4, the gross contract price shall be adjusted by the unit sum agreed by the Council and the Contractor or the price set by arbitration in accordance with the RFP for Provisional Item 1. The unit sum shall be adjusted in accordance with changes in the Public Transport (Bus) Cost Index published by NZTA from the quarter ending 31 December 2015 to the quarter in which the Provisional Item begins.

15 Contract Price Reset

- 15.1 The annual gross price of this contract will be reset as at the 6th anniversary of the commencement date of the contract by adjusting the gross price of the contract in accordance with the Public Transport (Bus) Cost Index published by NZTA, unless Council or the Contractor can demonstrate it would be substantially disadvantaged by the application of the reset.
- The annual gross price of this contract will also be reset if the Contractor wishes to turn this unit into a non-subsidised unit and keep the fares. If the Contractor wishes to operate the Service without subsidy, Council may in its sole discretion agree to reset the gross price of the contract at \$0 or less.
- 15.3 The Council and the Contractor may agree to reset the gross contract price of this contract as part of any variation.
- 15.4 The gross contract price will also be reset in accordance section 2.5 of the RFP

16 Service Level Variations

16.1 Either the Council or the Contractor may request changes to the route, capacity, frequency and/or timing of the whole or any part of the Service (Service level variations), so long as consistent with the RPTP.

- Potential Service level variations will be discussed during the business planning process in Schedule 6
- 16.3 The Council in its sole discretion may require by written notice to the Contractor:
 - 16.3.1 An increase in the level of Service;
 - 16.3.2 A decrease in the level of Service;
 - 16.3.3 Any other Service level variation.
- 16.4 Council's notice must state:
 - 16.4.1 The variation required.
 - 16.4.2 The date the variation is to commence.
 - 16.4.3 Council's assessment of the value of the variation.
- The Council's notice must be given at least three months prior to the date the variation is to commence.
- 16.6 The Contractor must implement the Service level variations required by the Council's notice. Clause 43 shall apply if the value of the variation assessed by the Council is disputed by the Contractor.
- 16.7 The Contractor may by request in writing to the Council ask for:
 - 16.7.1 An increase in the level of Service.
 - 16.7.2 A decrease in the level of Service.
 - 16.7.3 Any other Service variation.
- 16.8 The Contractor's request must state:
 - 16.8.1 The proposed variation.
 - 16.8.2 The date the variation is proposed to commence.
 - 16.8.3 The Contractor's assessment of the value of the variation.
- 16.9 If the Council receives a request from the Contractor for a Service level variation, the Council may:
 - 16.9.1 Accept the request as proposed.
 - 16.9.2 Accept the request with modification.
 - 16.9.3 Reject the request.

- 16.10 If the Council accepts the request with modification, then the Contractor may accept or reject the Council's reply. If the Contractor rejects the Council's reply, then the Service level variation is not agreed and shall not occur.
- 16.11 The value of any Service level variation shall be determined by using the variable rates.
- 16.12 The variable rates must be adjusted from 31 December 2015 in accordance with the Public Transport (Bus) Cost Index published by NZTA and continue to be so adjusted.
- 16.13 The price of the variation shall be added to the gross price of the contract.

17 Payment

- 17.1 The Contractor must submit to the Council a tax invoice for all payments claimed. The tax invoice must be supported by a properly completed claim form in a format approved by Council
- 17.2 The Contractor must render tax invoices for each calendar month. The tax invoice and supporting information must be received by the Council within four working days of the end of the calendar month to which the invoices relates.
- 17.3 Payments due under the contract will be made each month, if the Contractor has submitted a tax invoice.
- 17.4 Each monthly payment will be calculated as follows:
 - 17.4.1 1/12th of the contract price plus any price variation made under this contract less the total of:
 - 17.4.1.1 Any amounts which the Council may deduct in accordance with the contract; and
 - 17.4.1.2 1/12th of the Contractor's share of the annual support fee; and
 - 17.4.1.3 The monthly rental payable by the Contractor for ticketing and any other equipment and/or systems provided by the Council.

18 Deductions

- 18.1 If the Contractor does not operate the service or any part of the service, the Council may in its absolute discretion:
 - 18.1.1 Not pay for any journey or part journey not operated by the Contractor;
 - 18.1.2 Reduce the payment to the Contractor by such sum as the Council reasonably thinks represents the reduction in service and/or loss to Council, to take account of the difference between the contracted service and the actual service provided by the Contractor.

- 18.2 Clause 18.1 does not derogate from clauses 42 and 44.
- 18.3 Council may also deduct from any contract payment due to the Contractor:
 - 18.3.1 Any liquidated damages.
 - 18.3.2 Any rents payable by the Contractor under this agreement.
 - 18.3.3 Any ticketing revenue owed by the Contractor to the Council.
 - 18.3.4 Any other sum which the Council is entitled to deduct under this contract.
- 18.4 The Council's assessment of any deduction is final and binding on the Contractor.

19 Fare Adjustment

19.1 The Council may at any time change the fares in the fare schedule by written notice to the Contractor.

20 Managing Customer Experience

- 20.1 The Contractor must at all times employ fit and proper staff to deal with passengers.
- 20.2 Staff must be neatly and cleanly attired, and polite and courteous in dealing with the travelling public. The staff must be capable of communicating with passengers in English.
- 20.3 The Contractor must ensure that the service is seen by passengers as "user friendly".
- 20.4 The Contractor's personnel must be trained by the Contractor to deal appropriately with passengers with special needs.
- The Council may, acting reasonably, direct the Contractor to remove any employee from public contact if the employee's behaviour or attire is, in its opinion, objectionable or causes complaints from the public.
- 20.6 The Contractor must report to the Council in writing without delay if any employee's employment with the Contractor ends because of dishonesty or any other form of misconduct. The Contractor must include in the report the full name of the employee and all the circumstances of the dishonesty or misconduct.

21 Privacy

21.1 Subject to any legal requirements, all information received by the Council concerning the Contractor's personnel will be treated confidentially and solely for the purposes of managing public transport in Otago.

22 Drivers

- 22.1 The Contractor must ensure that all drivers are adequately trained in all respects of the Service relating to their role and to provide a safe, courteous, and reliable service.
- 22.2 All drivers must at all times hold a valid driving licence for the class of vehicle.
- All staff in contact with the public must wear a name badge or identification label which is clearly visible at all times so that they can be readily identified by members of the public with whom they come into contact.
- All drivers and other staff dealing with the public must be clean, tidy, and wear the Contractor's unique uniform and observe a standard of personal hygiene appropriate for dealing with the public.

23 Customer Feedback

- 23.1 The Contractor must maintain a customer feedback register. It shall keep in the customer feedback register details of all customer feedback received by the Contractor in providing the service and of action taken in response to the complaints.
- The Council may at any time inspect the register. The Contractor must make the customer feedback register available immediately to the Council on request. If requested, the Contractor must provide the Council immediately with a true copy of the customer feedback register or any part of the register specified by the Council.
- 23.3 The Contractor must retain the customer feedback register for the duration of the contract. The Contractor must provide a complete copy of the register to the Council when the contract ends.
- 23.4 The Contractor must provide to the Council a record of any complaints received directly by the Contractor, no later than one working day after the complaint is received by the Contractor. The Contractor must advise the Council in writing within three working days of the complaint being received by the Contractor of the action taken by the Contractor in response to the complaint.
- 23.5 The Contractor must deal with complaints to the satisfaction of the Council.
- Any complaints addressed directly to the Council shall be recorded by the Council in the Council's transport complaints database. Complaints received directly by the Council that require response from the Contractor will be faxed, emailed or delivered to the Contractor, if possible on the day received by the Council. The Contractor must provide a written response to any such complaint forwarded by the Council within three working days of receiving it from the Council.
- 23.7 Customer feedback received by the Council's call centre will be forwarded by email to the Contractor and the Council. The Contractor must send a written response to the Council within three working days of receiving customer feedback from the Council's call centre.

- 23.8 The Contractor must supply to the Council a monthly schedule detailing the date, time and nature of customer feedback received and the response of the Contractor to customer feedback, within four working days of the end of each calendar month.
- All complaints form part of the Contractor's track record and may be taken into account by the Council in evaluating any future tenders made by the Contractor and/or in considering any extensions of contract.
- 23.10 The Council and the Contractor will work constructively together to resolve any persistent issues raised by members of the public.

24 Timetables

24.1 The Contractor must ensure the Council's timetable booklets are available in all vehicles used in service.

25 Support Fee

- 25.1 The Contractor must use the Council's call centre.
- The Contractor must include in the contract cost and pay to Council a support fee of \$20,000.00 plus GST each year except where the contractor is paying this support fee under another passenger transport service contract with Council.
- Where the Contractor pays the support fee under 25.2 the support fee is subject to quarterly adjustment based on the changes in the NZTA's Public Transport (Bus) Cost Index from 1 July 2015. If the Contractor holds contracts for two or more units, the Council, in its sole discretion, may reduce the gross price of the contract by the amount of the support fee.

26 Publicity

- The Contractor must cooperate in any promotion or publicity of public passenger transport undertaken by the Council.
- The Contractor must not engage with the television, radio and newspaper media on matters related to this Contract without Council's prior written consent.
- The Contractor must acknowledge the support of Council whenever publicising aspects of the Service to the public or to other stakeholder groups.
- The Contractor must obtain Council's written approval of any promotional or publicity scheme prior to its implementation.
- No advertising (whether for the Contractor or any other person) shall be displayed in or on any vehicle used in the Service unless the Council has first given its written approval.

27 Vehicles

- 27.1 The Contractor must when providing the service use the vehicles listed in its proposal and/or any other vehicle approved by Council in writing for this contract.
- The Contractor must obtain Council's written permission to add or remove vehicles to or from the approved vehicle list for this Contract.
- 27.3 Each Vehicle used in the service must conform to the vehicle quality standards set out in Schedule 5
- The contractor must use only use back up vehicles in support of the primary vehicles as a result of:
 - 27.4.1 Mechanical failure
 - 27.4.2 Vehicle servicing or inspection requirements
 - 27.4.3 Panel repairs

28 Initial Vehicle Inspection

- 28.1 If the Contractor is purchasing a vehicle for use in the Service, the Contractor must within 30 working days of acceptance of the commencement of the contract, provide to the Council evidence from the supplier confirming that the Contractor has ordered the vehicle and the supplier will provide the date on which the vehicle will be available for Service.
- 28.2 The Contractor must make available in Dunedin all vehicles which will be available for use in the Service on the service commencement date for inspection by the Council no later than 10 working days before the start of the service.
- 28.3 Council's written approval of all vehicles which will be available for use in the Service on the service commencement date must be obtained by the Contractor at least 5 working days before the start of the service.
- No other vehicle may be introduced to the Service unless first inspected by Council and approved in writing by the Council for use in the performance of this contract.
- No vehicle may be used in the Service if it was not included in the Contractor's Proposal, without the prior written consent of the Council.

29 Further Vehicle Inspections

- 29.1 The Council may at any time inspect any vehicle, including backup vehicles, which may be used in providing the service.
- When requested by the Council, the Contractor must make any vehicle available for inspection by the Council at the time, and place, specified by the Council.
- 29.3 The Contractor must keep complete, accurate, readily intelligible and verifiable records of the maintenance of vehicles that may be used in the Service.
- 29.4 The Contractor must immediately make available to the Council, on request, maintenance records of vehicles used in providing the Service, including the maintenance records of backup vehicles.
- 29.5 If the Council considers that a vehicle does not meet the vehicle quality standards in Schedule 5 or the vehicle does not otherwise conform to the requirements of this contract, or is otherwise unfit for service, then the Council may, acting reasonably, direct that the vehicle be removed from service immediately.
- 29.6 If the Council directs that any vehicle be removed from service, the Contractor must immediately comply with the Council's direction.
- 29.7 If the Council directs that any vehicle be removed from service, the vehicle shall not be returned to service until the Council is satisfied the vehicle complies with all the terms of this contract and is otherwise fit for service and gives written permission for the vehicle to return to service.
- 29.8 Nothing in clauses 29.5 to 29.7 inclusive derogates from clauses 42 and 44
- 29.9 For the avoidance of doubt:
 - 29.9.1 A Contractor who uses or fails to remove a vehicle from service in accordance with the direction given by the Council
 - 29.9.2 Returns a vehicle to service when the Council has not given written permission for the vehicle to be returned to service

is deemed, for the purposes of clause 42.1.9, to have used a vehicle in the Service that is not approved by Council for use in the Service.

30 Branding

- The vehicles used in the service must be clearly identified with the name of the Contractor and any "brand name" if operating under a trading name different from the Contractor's legal name.
- 30.2 The Contractor must identify individual vehicles uniquely by number.

- 30.3 The colour scheme, including the company logo or brand name, used on the exterior of a vehicle, must be identical on each vehicle which may be used by the Contractor to provide the Service, unless the Contractor has obtained the prior written approval of the Council. The Council will not approve any advertising on any of the windows of a vehicle.
- 30.4 Council may, after the commencement of the services, at its own cost apply a network colour scheme and/or branding to vehicles used in the Service. The Contractor must on written request make available to the Council vehicles used in the Service for the network colour scheme and/or branding to be applied
- 30.5 If Council has applied a network colour scheme and/or branding in accordance with clause 30.4, then the contractor shall maintain that branding and colour scheme while the vehicle remains in use in the service as if the colour scheme and/or branding were its own livery.
- 30.6 If the network colour scheme and/or branding applied by Council in accordance with cause 30.4 is significantly different from the immediately previous colour scheme and/or branding of any vehicle used in the Service, then except where the vehicle requires repainting due to the age and condition of the paint/signage Council will pay the reasonable cost of restoring the vehicle's immediately previous colour scheme and/or branding when the vehicle permanently ceases to be used in the Service.
- 30.7 As the Contractor removes vehicles from the fleet, the Contractor must remove at it cost, the Council logos and network specific branding from those vehicles (e.g. the graphics, but not the colour of the bus). The Contractor must remove at its cost, the Council logos and network specific branding from the vehicles on termination of the contract unless the Contractor enters into a new contract to provide the Service or obtains the Council's written approval to retain the logos and branding.
- The contractor must remove any and all branding relating to networks outside Dunedin from vehicles to be used in the service.

31 Signage

- 31.1 The Contractor must display clearly on the front and left side of the vehicles used to provide the service destination route indicators to inform intending passengers of the destination and route of the trip being operated. The signage must be compliant with the RUB 2014.
- The Contractor must display inside all vehicles used in the service any information provided by the Council which relates to the public transport activities of the Council; such information may include publicity or other material. The Council will meet the costs of providing such material and the Contractor must pay the costs of erecting or displaying such material.
- 31.3 The Contractor must display on all vehicles providing the Service any branding or promotional sign supplied by Council on the left hand side of the bus near the front boarding door and any other sign required by the Council that advises the travelling public that the bus is part of a contracted public transport service. Council branding and signage shall be attached at Council's costs.

32 Head signs

The Contractor must not display any head sign or wording, unless first approved by Council in writing.

33 Subcontracting and Assignment

- The Contractor must not subcontract or assign the whole or any part of the service without having first obtained the written consent of the Council.
- Council may in its absolute discretion refuse consent to subcontract or to assign the whole or any part of the service.
- 33.3 The written approval given by the Council may be on such terms as the Council, in its absolute discretion thinks fit.
- Notwithstanding any assignment or subcontracting, the Contractor remains liable to the Council for all the Contractor's obligations under the contract.
- Despite clause 33.1, the Contractor may arrange temporary provision of the whole or any part of the service in accordance with this contract by another bus operator provided that:
 - 33.5.1 Circumstances have arisen are beyond the control of the Contractor; and
 - 33.5.2 The Contractor immediately notifies the Council of the circumstances and gives the Council full particulars of the bus operator who will be temporarily providing the service; and
 - 33.5.3 The period of temporary cover does not exceed two operating days, without the express written consent of the Council; and
 - 33.5.4 The Contractor remains fully liable to the Council under this contract for the provision of the service during that period.
- All costs of subcontracting or assignment (including the costs and expenses of Council in relation to the subcontracting or assignment) are payable by the Contractor.

34 Health and Safety

- The Contractor must implement and operate in accordance with the health and safety plan endorsed by Council.
- 34.2 The Contractor must review its health and safety plan:
 - 34.2.1 At six monthly intervals; or

- 34.2.2 After any incident in which any person has suffered serious harm or if serious damage to third party property has occurred during the provision of the Service; or
- 34.2.3 Whenever requested by the Council, acting reasonably, in writing.
- 34.3 The health and safety plan may be amended by the Contractor with the prior written approval of the Council. The Contractor must implement and operate in accordance with any amended health and safety plan.
- 34.4 The Contractor must also:
 - 34.4.1 Comply with all its legal obligations relating to health and safety.
 - 34.4.2 Train its personnel to comply with its health and safety plan.
 - 34.4.3 Supervise its personnel to ensure that all health and safety obligations are carried out.
 - 34.4.4 Take all practical steps to ensure no person is put at risk and suffers harm in the performance of its obligations under this contract.

34.5 Accidents

- 34.5.1 The Contractor must:
 - 34.5.1.1 Maintain a register of all accidents.
 - 34.5.1.2 Investigate accidents and identify their cause.
 - 34.5.1.3 Ensure that all persons under the Contractor's control are appropriately supervised.
 - 34.5.1.4 Provide Council with a copy of any report, which the Contractor is required to make to a public authority on any accident, which is associated with the provision of the Service.
 - 34.5.1.5 Report to Council any accidents that occur in the operation of the Service, including during positioning journeys. Such notice shall be given not later than the next Working Day.
 - 34.5.1.6 Inform the Council of all remedial action and any steps taken to prevent recurrence of the accident.
- 34.5.2 A report must also include:
 - 34.5.2.1 Details identifying the bus.
 - 34.5.2.2 The name of the driver.
 - 34.5.2.3 Whether the bus was in service.
 - 34.5.2.4 The time, date and location of the incident.

- 34.5.2.5 A description of the incident.
- 34.5.2.6 Any effects on any person or the property of any person.
- 34.5.2.7 Whether Police or other emergency services were involved.
- 34.5.2.8 Whether regulatory authorities were notified.
- 34.5.2.9 The outcome of incident.
- 34.5.3 This notice is additional to any responsibility to notify any regulatory authority.

34.6 Contractor's Indemnity

34.6.1 The Contractor shall fully indemnify and shall keep fully indemnified Council against all costs, damages, loss and expense incurred or suffered by Council for any breach by the Contractor and its personnel of the Health and Safety requirements of this Contract or any legislation relating to health and safety, or any conviction or proceedings instigated against Council arising from or incidental to such breach.

34.7 **Costs**

- 34.7.1 Compliance with Health and Safety obligations is entirely at the Contractor's cost.
- 34.7.2 The Contractor shall not be entitled to claim for any adjustment to the Contract Price arising in relation to Health and Safety issues or enforcement or proceedings under any enactment.
- 34.7.3 All costs to Council arising out of a breach by the Contractor of its obligations under Clauses 34.1 to 34.6 (inclusive) shall be payable by the Contractor to the Council on demand.

35 Other Legal Obligations

- 35.1 The Contractor and all persons engaged by the Contractor to provide the services, must at all times comply with all legal requirements relating to the performance of this contract.
- 35.2 Without limiting clause 35.1,
 - 35.2.1 Before commencement of the service, the Contractor must at its own cost, obtain all necessary licences and all other authorisations required by law to provide the service.
 - 35.2.2 Throughout the term of the contract, the Contractor at its own cost, must maintain all necessary licences and all other authorisations required by law to provide the service.

- 35.2.3 Before the commencement of the service and at all times while the service is being provided under this contract, all persons engaged by the Contractor to provide the service must hold all necessary licences and other authorisations required by law for the provision of the service.
- 35.2.4 The Contractor must ensure that all vehicles used in the service are licenced, registered, warranted and certified and have any other approvals required by law and are maintained to the standard required for such approvals.
- 35.2.5 The Contractor must immediately give notice to the Council of the cancellation or suspension of any licence or other legal authorisation necessary for the provision of the service or anything which might result in such suspension or cancellation.

36 Quality Assurance

- 36.1 The Contractor is responsible for monitoring the quality of the Service provided and ensuring that the Service complies with the requirements of the Contract.
- The Contractor shall implement and operate the Quality Assurance Plan in accordance with its Proposal.
- 36.3 The Quality Assurance Plan shall address each of the following as a minimum:
 - 36.3.1 Detail and/or reference all inputs and procedures to enable the Contractor to provide the Service to the required standards and comply with the requirements of this Contract.
 - 36.3.2 Confirm the Contractor's team and their roles.
 - 36.3.3 Detail monitoring, testing and verification procedures for all deliverables under the contract.
 - 36.3.4 Managing occupational Health and Safety issues.
 - 36.3.5 The Contractors regime for ensuring adequately skilled and trained personnel are assigned to tasks under the contract;
 - 36.3.6 The Contractor's Vehicle maintenance plan.
 - 36.3.7 The Contractor's regime for handling passenger complaints.
 - 36.3.8 The Contractor's methodology for the identification of Contract issues and problems, including escalation procedures.
 - 36.3.9 The Contractor's self-monitoring and reporting regime.
- The Quality Assurance Plan may be amended by the Contractor with the written approval of the Council acting reasonably. The Contractor must implement and operate in accordance with the amended plan.

- 36.5 Council may audit the Contractor's compliance with the Quality Plan and the Contractor's reporting. The Contractor shall make all information available as shall reasonably be required by Council to ensure such compliance.
- From time to time Council may request a Contractor Performance meeting to discuss performance issues. The Contractor must attend.

37 Insurance

- 37.1 The Contractor must at its own cost maintain from the commencement of the service to the end of the contract:
 - 37.1.1 Public liability insurance cover of \$3,000,000.00 for each and every event; the cover must indemnify the Contractor, the Council jointly and severally against all liability which may arise during the contract; and
 - 37.1.2 Comprehensive motor vehicle cover, including cover against third party claims, on all vehicles used or intended to be used to provide the service.
- 37.2 Insurance cover must be provided by an insurer approved by the Council and on terms and conditions approved by the Council. Proof of insurance shall be provided to the Council within ten working days of the commencement of this contract.
- 37.3 The Contractor must provide Council with written proof of annual renewals of all insurance required by this contract.
- 37.4 The Contractor must, without delay, provide on request by the Council, insurance certificates evidencing that the insurance cover required by this contract is in place.
- 37.5 The Contractor must not do anything which invalidates any insurance cover required by this contract.
- 37.6 The Contractor must not do anything which allows an insurer to decline any claim made under an insurance policy required by this contract.

38 Indemnity

38.1 The Contractor must fully indemnify and keep indemnified the Council against all actions, proceedings, claims, demands for any loss, damage or injury caused wholly or partly by the Contractor and against all costs and expenses (including legal fees and witness expenses) incurred by the Council arising out of such actions, proceedings, claims, or demand.

39 Bond

- The Contractor must provide at its own cost, for the duration of the contract, a bond in the form set out in Schedule 4.
- The bond must be given by a surety acceptable to the Council.

- The bond must be for the aggregate of the sum of \$40,000.00 and 1/6th of the first year gross price of the contract (GST inclusive).
- The bond must be completed and provided to the Council within 20 working days of acceptance of the commencement of the contract. r.

40 Key Performance Indicators

- 40.1 Council will monitor and report on a number of key performance indicators (KPI's) for public transport set out in Schedule 8.
- The contractor must provide in a format approved in writing by the Council the information set out in Schedule 8 at the intervals stipulated in that schedule

41 Warranties

- 41.1 The Contractor warrants:
 - 41.1.1 All information in its Proposal is true and correct.
 - 41.1.2 If it becomes aware of any matter which affects the truth or completeness of any part of its Proposal (except price) it shall notify the Council in writing without delay.
 - 41.1.3 The plans that are part of the Proposal or are referred to in its Proposal are fit for purpose.
 - 41.1.4 If it becomes aware of any defect in any of its plans, it shall notify the Council in writing without delay and seek the Council's approval to an amendment of the plan to remove the defect.
 - 41.1.5 All information provided by the Contractor to the Council during this contract will be true and complete.

Warnings and Liquidated Damages

- The Council may give a written warning to the Contractor where the Contractor has without good cause:
 - 42.1.1 Failed to operate a trip in accordance with the timetable (non arrival); or
 - 42.1.2 Operated a contracted trip early (departed out of any terminus or timing point more than 59 seconds ahead of scheduled time); or
 - 42.1.3 Operated a contracted trip late (arrived at a terminus more than 59 seconds after the scheduled time of arrival); or
 - 42.1.4 Operated a contracted trip late (departed out of a terminus or timing point more than 59 seconds after the scheduled time); or

- 42.1.5 Failed to supply and/or display accurate route or destination information; or
- 42.1.6 Deviated from the prescribed route; or
- 42.1.7 Failed to pick up passengers at any designated stops for the service; or
- 42.1.8 Charged an incorrect fare or failed to collect a due fare or failed to collect any other payments due or failed to issue a correct ticket; or
- 42.1.9 Used a vehicle on the Service that is not approved by Council for use in the Service.
- When a written warning is issued by the Council under clause 42.1 the Contractor has one working day from service of the notice to object to the notice and give particulars to enable the Council to evaluate whether there is good cause. The onus is on the Contractor to demonstrate good cause. Good cause has the meaning in clauses 44.3 to 44.5 inclusive.
- 42.3 Any objection shall be dealt with by the Council whose decision shall be final and binding on the Contractor.
- 42.4 If the Contractor has not established good cause, then the Council, in its absolute discretion, may deduct from the next contract payment due to the Contractor, liquidated damages calculated to cover the estimated cost to the Council in dealing with the matters giving rise to the breach. Liquidated damages applicable to this contract are \$322 excl GST (indexed from 31 December 2015) per trip or part thereof.

43 Dispute Resolution

43.1 General

Without limiting the application of the clauses below relating to dispute resolution, in the event of a dispute, disagreement or difference of opinion ('dispute') arising under the Contract, as tothe meaning or application of any part of this Contract; orany other matter touching or concerning this Contract, the parties shall actively and openly endeavour to amicably settle such dispute themselves, with a view to achieving prompt resolution.

43.2 **Notice of Dispute**

43.2.1 A party claiming that a dispute has arisen must give written notice to the other party, specifying the nature of the dispute. On receipt of such a notice, the parties shall endeavour to resolve the dispute amicably and expeditiously using informal dispute resolution techniques agreed by them.

43.3 Referral to Senior Management

- 43.3.1 If the parties are unable to settle a dispute amicably under clauses 43.1 and 43.2 by conference or negotiation, either party may issue a notice referring the dispute to the senior management of the parties to resolve.
- 43.3.2 Within 10 Working Days of service of such a notice, senior management representatives of each party shall meet and attempt to resolve the dispute. Any resolution shall be recorded in writing and shall be binding when signed by both parties.

43.4 Referral to Mediation

43.4.1 If the senior management representatives either fail to meet or fail to resolve a dispute within 10 Working Days of its referral to them under clause 43.3, or where neither party requires referral to senior management within 10 Working Days of the giving of notice of a dispute under clause 43.2, either party may at any time subsequently by notice in writing to the other require the dispute to be submitted to mediation.

43.5 **Mediation**

- 43.5.1 If any dispute is submitted to mediation under clause 43.4, the following shall apply:
 - 43.5.1.1 A single mediator shall conduct the mediation.
 - 43.5.1.2 The Contractor and Council shall endeavour to agree on a mediator.
 - 43.5.1.3 If the Contractor and Council cannot agree on a single mediator within 10 Working Days of service of notice of intention to commence mediation, either party may request the President of the Arbitrators and Mediators Institute of New Zealand Incorporated to appoint a sole mediator.
 - 43.5.1.4 The mediator shall discuss the matter with the Contractor and Council (separately or jointly as the mediator may determine) and endeavour to resolve the dispute by agreement.
 - 43.5.1.5 All discussions in the mediation shall be without prejudice and shall not, save in the case of proceedings to enforce settlement concluded by mediation, be referred to in any later proceedings.
 - 43.5.1.6 The Contractor and Council shall bear their own costs in mediation and shall pay the cost of the mediator in equal shares.

43.6 **Arbitration**

- 43.6.1 If the parties cannot resolve the dispute by mediation under clause 43.5, then either party may by written notice to the other refer the dispute to arbitration in accordance with the Arbitration Act 1996 on the following terms:
 - 43.6.1.1 A single arbitrator shall be appointed.
 - 43.6.1.2 If the parties fail to agree on an arbitrator, then the President of the Arbitrators and Mediators Institute of New Zealand Incorporated shall appoint the arbitrator.
 - 43.6.1.3 The place of arbitration shall be Dunedin.
 - 43.6.1.4 No person who has participated in an informal dispute resolution of the dispute shall act as arbitrator.
 - 43.6.1.5 The arbitrator shall proceed promptly to deliver an award. The parties shall cooperate fully in this respect.
 - 43.6.1.6 The parties agree that the arbitrator's decision shall be final and binding.
 - 43.6.1.7 The Contractor and Council shall bear their own costs in arbitration and (in the absence of an arbitrator's award to the contrary) shall pay the costs of the arbitrator in equal shares.
 - 43.6.1.8 Either party will be entitled to appeal to the High Court on any question of law arising out of the award.

43.7 **Performance of Obligations**

- 43.7.1 Pending the settlement of the dispute, the parties shall continue to perform all their obligations under the Contract except neither party shall be obliged to pay any money which is the subject of the dispute.
- 43.7.2 Clause 43.7.1 does not apply if Council has cancelled the contract under clause 44.1 unless the Contractor has obtained an injunction in accordance with clause 43.8.

43.8 Compliance with Dispute Resolution Regime

43.8.1 A party to the Contract may not commence any court or arbitration proceedings relating to a dispute unless it has complied with the clauses above relating to dispute resolution (except where the party seeks urgent interlocutory or injunctive relief).

44 Cancellation by Council for Non-Performance

- The Council may in its absolute discretion by written notice to the Contractor cancel the contract with immediate effect on service of the notice if:
 - 44.1.1 The Contractor abandons or repudiates the contract;
 - 44.1.2 The Contractor makes any assignment for the benefit of creditors;
 - 44.1.3 The Contractor enters into any composition with creditors;
 - 44.1.4 The Contractor is insolvent, is adjudged bankrupt or is put into liquidation;
 - 44.1.5 Any creditor becomes entitled to exercise any right to realise any security over the Contractor's assets:
 - 44.1.6 Any creditor takes possession of any of the Contractor's assets;
 - 44.1.7 A receiver is appointed for the whole or any part of the Contractor's assets;
 - 44.1.8 Any of the Contractor's assets are taken in execution of any judgment;
 - 44.1.9 The Contractor has made any misstatements in the Contractor's Proposal;
 - 44.1.10 The Contractor fails to obtain the approval of Council to the vehicle fleet the Contractor intends to use to provide the Service, at least 10 working days before the commencement of the Service:
 - 44.1.11 The Contractor fails to provide the bond required by clause 39 within 20 working days of commencement of the contract;
 - 44.1.12 The Contractor fails to pay to the Council any ticketing revenue to which the Council is entitled, after having been given written notice by Council to pay the ticketing revenue;
 - 44.1.13 The Contractor fails to comply with any other obligations under this contract relating to ticketing revenue and that non-compliance results in a loss of revenue and/or data to the Council.
 - 44.1.14 The Contractor fails to provide a remedial action plan for approval of Council under clause 44.9 or clause 44.16.
 - 44.1.15 The Contractor fails to obtain Council approval of a remedial action plan under clause 44.17.
 - 44.1.16 The Contractor fails to implement a remedial action plan approved by Council.
 - 44.1.17 Despite the Contractor implementing a remedial action plan approved by Council, the Contractor, without good cause, breaches the obligation that is the subject of the remedial action plan after having received written

- notice from Council warning of the Council's ability to cancel the contract under this clause.
- 44.2 For the purpose of 44.1.1, the Contractor shall be conclusively deemed to have abandoned the contract if the Contractor fails to operate the Service for a period of twenty-four (24) hours or more without good cause.
- 44.3 "Good cause" will exist if the failure occurs:
 - 44.3.1 Without any fault on the part of the Contractor; and
 - 44.3.2 For reasons entirely beyond the control of the Contractor; and
 - 44.3.3 The Contractor notifies the Council of the interruption to the Service and the reasons for it as soon as practicable.
- 44.4 "Good cause" does not include;
 - 44.4.1 Lockouts by the Contractor
 - 44.4.2 Industrial action taken by the Contractor's employees where Council having given the operator the opportunity to outline its reasons considers the contractor is or has been acting unreasonably; or
 - 44.4.3 Any other act or omission of Contractor's personnel;
- The Contractor has the onus of demonstrating good cause to the satisfaction of the Council.
- The Council acting reasonably may, by written notice to the Contractor, require the Contractor to prepare and submit to Council for approval a remedial action plan if the Contractor breaches any of its obligations in this contract (other than an obligation which entitles the Council to cancel the contract under clause 44.1) within the time prescribed by Council in the notice.
- 44.7 The notice given by Council under clause 44.6 must state:
 - 44.7.1 The breach which is the subject of the notice;
 - 44.7.2 The requirement to provide a remedial action plan for approval by Council:
 - 44.7.3 The time within which the remedial action plan is to be provided to Council for approval;
 - 44.7.4 The matters which the remedial action plan must contain;
 - 44.7.5 A warning that if the Contractor fails to provide Council with a remedial action plan within the time prescribed by Council in the notice, the Council may cancel the contract under clause 44.1.

- 44.8 The remedial action plan prepared by the Contractor must contain:
 - 44.8.1 Full particulars of the breach;
 - 44.8.2 The reasons for the breach;
 - 44.8.3 The steps taken by the Contractor to correct the breach;
 - 44.8.4 The further steps to be taken by the Contractor to remedy the breach and to prevent its repetition;
 - 44.8.5 The time within which the matters in clause 44.8.4 will be achieved;
 - 44.8.6 When and how the Contractor will report to Council on the implementation of the remedial action plan.
- The Contractor must provide a remedial action plan required by Council under clause 44.6 within the time prescribed in the notice given by the Council. If the Contractor fails to do so, the Council may cancel the contract under clause 44.1.14.
- 44.10 The Council may approve or, acting reasonably, reject the remedial action plan.
- 44.11 If the Council approves the remedial action plan, the Contractor must implement the remedial action plan.
- 44.12 If the Council rejects the remedial action plan, it must give its reasons in writing and require the Contractor to amend and re-submit the remedial action plan for approval by Council within the time specified by Council in its written notice of rejection.
- The notice to the Contractor under clause 44.12 must warn the Contractor if the remedial action plan is not re-submitted to the Council or if it is not approved by Council, the Council may cancel the contract under clause 44.1.14 or clause 44.1.15.
- 44.14 If the Contractor submits an amended remedial action plan the Council may approve or acting reasonably reject the amended remedial action plan.
- 44.15 If the Council approves the amended remedial action plan, the Contractor must implement the amended remedial action plan. The amended remedial action plan is a remedial action plan for the purposes of clauses 44.1.14 44.1.17 inclusive.
- 44.16 If the Contractor fails to provide an amended remedial action plan, then the Council may cancel the contract under clause 44.1.14.
- 44.17 If the Council acting reasonably does not approve an amended remedial action plan, then the Council may cancel the contract under clause 44.1.15.
- 44.18 If the Council gives notice of cancellation under clause 44.1, then clauses 43.1 43.5 inclusive do not apply.
- 44.19 The Council on cancelling the contract may:

- 44.19.1 Forfeit the bond given under clause 39 of this contract; and
- 44.19.2 Without limiting any of its rights or remedies recover from the Contractor all its costs in:
 - 44.19.2.1 Cancelling the contract; and/or
 - 44.19.2.2 Arranging a replacement Service; and/or
 - 44.19.2.3 Providing any replacement Service to the extent the costs of the replacement Service exceed the costs to the Council of the cancelled contract.
- 44.20 Cancellation of the contract shall not affect any of the rights and obligations of either party for any breach accruing before the cancellation of the contract.
- The rights and remedies of the Council under clauses 44.1 to 44.20 inclusive are in addition to and without prejudice to its rights and remedies under clauses 18 and 42 of these conditions of contract.

Termination of the Contract by Council on Notice

- Without limiting the preceding clause, the Council may terminate the contract if the Crown reduces or stops the passenger transport funding currently provided to the Council. In such event, the Council shall endeavour, in its absolute discretion, to treat all affected Contractors fairly and equitably.
- 45.2 If the Council exercises its right to terminate the contract under clause 45.1 the Council shall release the bond given under clause 39 of the contract.

46 Termination where Service not Viable

- 46.1 Council and the Contractor will do all things reasonably practical to retain Crown funding.
- 46.2 Council may terminate the Contract, by giving not less than 90 calendar days written notice, in either of the following circumstances:
 - 46.2.1 Where the NZTA funding is discontinued in whole or part.
 - 46.2.2 Where Council, in its sole opinion, after having regard to the level of patronage, revenue, and the potential for growth in revenue, is satisfied the Service should no longer be supported by public funding.
- Where Council terminates the Contract, the Council shall pay the Contractor a sum equal to the last 3 months contract payments before the termination date in full and final settlement of any claims which the Contractor may have. The Council shall not be liable to make any other payments to the Contractor or any other person.

47 Renewal

The Contractor has no right to renew the contract, nor any entitlement to a new contract for the same, or any other service.

Contractor's Obligations on Cancellation, Termination or Expiry

- 48.1 During any period of notice, the Contractor must:
 - 48.1.1 Continue to provide the service; and
 - 48.1.2 Cooperate fully with the Council to establish any replacement operator.
- 48.2 If the contract expires, is cancelled, or is terminated, the Contractor at its own cost must take all reasonable steps to ensure the service is transferred to any new operator of the same or substantially similar service with a minimum disruption to passengers.
- 48.3 The Contractor must without delay return all Council property to the Council.

49 Access to Information

49.1 The Contractor is to make available on a confidential basis to an authorised representative of the Council, any records or documentation relating to the operation of the contract. Council officers may visit the Contractor's premises, examine any or all records or documents and interview employees.

50 Surveys

50.1 The Contractor must permit an authorised representative of the Council to travel free on vehicles operated under the contract to enable him or her to conduct interviews, survey passengers or undertaker any other monitoring. Such travel could include positioning runs.

51 Service of Notices

- Notices given under this contract must be served on the addresses for service of the Council and Contractor.
- Notices may be served by personal delivery, post or fax.
- Notices served by post shall be conclusively deemed to have been received within 72 hours of posting.
- Notices served by fax should be conclusively deemed to have been served when transmitted.

51.5 The Otago Regional Council's address for service is: Delivery: 70 Stafford Street, Dunedin Postal: Private Bag 1954, Dunedin 03 479 0015 Fax: 51.6 The Contractor's address for service is set out in its tender. 52 Contractor's Representative 52.1 The Contractor's representative is specified in its Proposal. 52.2 The Contractor's representative must have full authority to deal with the Council on all matters relating to the contract. 52.3 The Contractor may on five working days' written notice to the Council change the Contractor's representative by naming a new representative. 53 Contract Manager 53.1 The Council's Manager Support Services is the Contract Manager. 53.2 The Council may on five working days written notice to the Contractor change the Contract Manager by naming a new contract manager. 53.3 The Contract Manager has any power, duty or function given to the Council in this contract. 54 Change of Name 54.1 The Contractor must give the Council 15 working days written notice of any change of trading name. Gratuities, Collusion, Conflict of Interest 55 55.1 The Contractor must not accept gratuities. 55.2 The Contractor must not collude with any other bus operator, or any other person whatsoever.

The Contractor must notify the Council of any potential conflict of interest that may

The Council must consider every notification of a proposal to operate an exempt service received by it under the Land Transport Management Act 2003 on its

Registration of Exempt Public Transport Services

merits.

affect the performance of this contract.

55.3

56

56.1

- The Council may accept for registration an exempt service although it duplicates, in whole or in part or otherwise affects the service provided by the Contractor under this contract.
- The Council gives no warranty and makes no representation it will decline to register any exempt service that may duplicate in whole or in part or otherwise affect the service provided under this contract.
- It is not an express or implied term of this contract that the Council will decline to register any exempt service that may affect the service provided under this contract.
- Registration of an exempt service that may affect the service provided under this contract does not entitle the Contractor to any compensation whatsoever from the Council or to any other remedy against the Council, or to terminate this contract.

Schedule 1 - Timetables

Schedule

1 (a) Stage 1 and 1A

from Contract Commencement (1A with an operational bus hub)

Halfway Bush / Brockville / St Kilda Ross Creek / Ocean Grove Waverley / Belleknowes Kenmure

Note: This includes the transition of these services in advance of their contract expiry on 1 July 2016

1 (b) Provisional Item 1 – Target frequency

Waverley / Belleknowes

PTC 2015/3 Unit 4 Conditions of Contract Schedule 1 Timetables Page 1 of 24

Schedule 1 (a)

Stage 1 and Stage 1A from contract commencement

Halfway Bush / Brockville / St Kilda Ross Creek / Ocean Grove Waverley / Belleknowes Kenmure

Notes:

- This includes the transition of services in advance of their contract expiry (Ross Creek / Ocean Grove, Kenmure, and relevant evening/Sunday/Public Holiday services for Waverley, St Kilda, Brockville, Halfway Bush, and Kenmure)
- Stage 1A is for an operational bus Hub

PTC 2015/3 Unit 4 Conditions of Contract Schedule 1 Timetables Page 2 of 24

Halfway Bush / Brockville / St Kilda

Timing points for these services are:

- St Kilda departure
- City Departure

Weekdays

St Kilda	Cargills	City	Stuart at	Halfway	Brockville
	Cnr	Depart	Taieri	Bush	
6:00	6:08	6:21	6:28	6:38	
6:15	6:23	6:36	6:43		6:53
6:30	6:38	6:51	6:58	7:08	
6:45	6:53	7:06	7:13		7:23
7:00	7:08	7:21	7:28	7:38	
7:15	7:23	7:36	7:43		7:53
7:30	7:38	7:51	7:58	8:08	
7:45	7:53	8:06	8:13		8:23
8:00	8:08	8:21	8:28	8:38	
8:15	8:23	8:36	8:43		8:53
8:30	8:38	8:51	8:58	9:08	
8:45	8:53	9:06	9:13		9:23
9:00	9:08	9:21	9:28	9:38	
9:15	9:23	9:36	9:43		9:53
9:30	9:38	9:51	9:58	10:08	
9:45	9:53	10:06	10:13		10:23
10:00	10:08	10:21	10:28	10:38	
10:15	10:23	10:36	10:43		10:53
10:30	10:38	10:51	10:58	11:08	
10:45	10:53	11:06	11:13		11:23
11:00	11:08	11:21	11:28	11:38	
11:15	11:23	11:36	11:43		11:53
11:30	11:38	11:51	11:58	12:08	
11:45	11:53	12:06	12:13		12:23
12:00	12:08	12:21	12:28	12:38	
12:15	12:23	12:36	12:43		12:53
12:30	12:38	12:51	12:58	13:08	
12:45	12:53	13:06	13:13		13:23
13:00	13:08	13:21	13:28	13:38	
13:15	13:23	13:36	13:43		13:53
13:30	13:38	13:51	13:58	14:08	
13:45	13:53	14:06	14:13		14:23
14:00	14:08	14:21	14:28	14:38	
14:15	14:23	14:36	14:43		14:53
14:30	14:38	14:51	14:58	15:08	

PTC 2015/3 Unit 4 Conditions of Contract Schedule 1 Timetables Page 3 of 24

					-	
14:45	14:53	15:06	15:13		15:23	
15:00	15:08	15:21	15:28	15:38		
15:15	15:23	15:36	15:43		15:53	
15:30	15:38	15:51	15:58	16:08		
15:45	15:53	16:06	16:13		16:23	
16:00	16:08	16:21	16:28	16:38		
16:15	16:23	16:36	16:43		16:53	
16:30	16:38	16:51	16:58	17:08		
16:45	16:53	17:06	17:13		17:23	
17:00	17:08	17:21	17:28	17:38		
17:15	17:23	17:36	17:43		17:53	
17:30	17:38	17:51	17:58	18:08		
17:45	17:53	18:06	18:13		18:23	
18:00	18:08	18:21	18:28	18:38		
18:15	18:23	18:36	18:43		18:53	
18:30	18:37	18:51	18:57	19:06		
19:00	19:07	19:21	19:27		19:36	
19:30	19:37	19:51	19:57	20:06		
20:00	20:07	20:21	20:27		20:36	
20:30	20:37	20:51	20:57	21:06		
21:00	21:07	21:21	21:27		21:36	
21:30	21:37	21:51	21:57	22:06		
22:00	22:07	22:21	22:27		22:36	
22:30	22:37	22:51	22:57	23:06		F
23:00	23:07	23:21	23:27		23:36	F

F = Friday only

PTC 2015/3 Unit 4 Conditions of Contract Schedule 1 Timetables Page **4** of 24

- Halfway Bush and Brockville departure
- City Departure

Halfway	Brockville	Stuart at	City	Cargills	St Kilda
Bush		Taieri	Depart	Cnr	
6:18		6:27	6:38	6:49	6:57
	6:33	6:43	6:53	7:04	7:12
6:48		6:57	7:08	7:19	7:27
	7:03	7:13	7:23	7:34	7:42
7:18		7:27	7:38	7:49	7:57
	7:33	7:43	7:53	8:04	8:12
7:48		7:57	8:08	8:19	8:27
	8:03	8:13	8:23	8:34	8:42
8:18		8:27	8:38	8:49	8:57
	8:33	8:43	8:53	9:04	9:12
8:48		8:57	9:08	9:19	9:27
	9:03	9:13	9:23	9:34	9:42
9:18		9:27	9:38	9:49	9:57
	9:33	9:43	9:53	10:04	10:12
9:48		9:57	10:08	10:19	10:27
	10:03	10:13	10:23	10:34	10:42
10:18		10:27	10:38	10:49	10:57
	10:33	10:43	10:53	11:04	11:12
10:48		10:57	11:08	11:19	11:27
	11:03	11:13	11:23	11:34	11:42
11:18		11:27	11:38	11:49	11:57
	11:33	11:43	11:53	12:04	12:12
11:48		11:57	12:08	12:19	12:27
	12:03	12:13	12:23	12:34	12:42
12:18		12:27	12:38	12:49	12:57
	12:33	12:43	12:53	13:04	13:12
12:48		12:57	13:08	13:19	13:27
	13:03	13:13	13:23	13:34	13:42
13:18		13:27	13:38	13:49	13:57
	13:33	13:43	13:53	14:04	14:12
13:48		13:57	14:08	14:19	14:27
	14:03	14:13	14:23	14:34	14:42
14:18		14:27	14:38	14:49	14:57
	14:33	14:43	14:53	15:04	15:12
14:48		14:57	15:08	15:19	15:27
	15:03	15:13	15:23	15:34	15:42
15:18		15:27	15:38	15:49	15:57

PTC 2015/3 Unit 4 Conditions of Contract Schedule 1 Timetables Page 5 of 24

	1	i	i	1	1	1
	15:33	15:43	15:53	16:04	16:12	
15:48		15:57	16:08	16:19	16:27	
	16:03	16:13	16:23	16:34	16:42	
16:18		16:27	16:38	16:49	16:57	
	16:33	16:43	16:53	17:04	17:12	
16:48		16:57	17:08	17:19	17:27	
	17:03	17:13	17:23	17:34	17:42	
17:18		17:27	17:38	17:49	17:57	
	17:33	17:43	17:53	18:04	18:12	
17:48		17:57	18:08	18:19	18:27	
	18:03	18:13	18:23	18:34	18:42	
18:18		18:27	18:38	18:49	18:57	
	18:33	18:43	18:53	19:04	19:12	
18:48		18:57	19:08	19:19	19:27	
	19:03	19:13	19:23	19:34	19:42	
19:18		19:27	19:38	19:49	19:57	
	19:48	19:57	20:08	20:18	20:25	
20:18		20:26	20:38	20:48	20:55	
	20:48	20:57	21:08	21:18	21:25	
21:18		21:26	21:38	21:48	21:55	
	21:48	21:57	22:08	22:18	22:25	
22:18		22:26	22:38	22:48	22:55	
	22:48	22:57	23:08	23:18	23:25	F
23:18		23:26	23:38	23:48	23:55	F

PTC 2015/3 Unit 4 Conditions of Contract Schedule 1 Timetables Page **6** of 24

Halfway Bush / Brockville / St Kilda

Timing points for these services are:

- St Kilda departure
- City Departure

Saturdays, Sundays, and Public Holidays

St Kilda	Cargills Cnr	City Depart	Stuart at Taieri	Halfway Bush	Brockville	
7:00	7:07	7:21	7:27		7:36	s
7:30	7:37	7:51	7:57	8:06		S
8:00	8:07	8:21	8:27		8:36	ļ
8:30	8:37	8:51	8:57	9:06		
9:00	9:07	9:21	9:27		9:36	
9:30	9:37	9:51	9:57	10:06		
10:00	10:07	10:21	10:27		10:36	
10:30	10:37	10:51	10:57	11:06		
11:00	11:07	11:21	11:27		11:36	
11:30	11:37	11:51	11:57	12:06		
12:00	12:07	12:21	12:27		12:36	
12:30	12:37	12:51	12:57	13:06		
13:00	13:07	13:21	13:27		13:36	
13:30	13:37	13:51	13:57	14:06		
14:00	14:07	14:21	14:27		14:36	
14:30	14:37	14:51	14:57	15:06		
15:00	15:07	15:21	15:27		15:36	
15:30	15:37	15:51	15:57	16:06		
16:00	16:07	16:21	16:27		16:36	
16:30	16:37	16:51	16:57	17:06		
17:00	17:07	17:21	17:27		17:36	
17:30	17:37	17:51	17:57	18:06		
18:00	18:07	18:21	18:27		18:36	
18:30	18:37	18:51	18:57	19:06		
19:00	19:07	19:21	19:27		19:36	
19:30	19:37	19:51	19:57	20:06		
20:00	20:07	20:21	20:27		20:36	s
20:30	20:37	20:51	20:57	21:06		s
21:00	21:07	21:21	21:27		21:36	s
21:30	21:37	21:51	21:57	22:06		s
22:00	22:07	22:21	22:27		22:36	s
22:30	22:37	22:51	22:57	23:06		s
23:00	23:07	23:21	23:27		23:36	s
23:30	23:37	23:51	23:57	0:06		s

S = Saturday only

PTC 2015/3 Unit 4 Conditions of Contract Schedule 1 Timetables Page 7 of 24

- Halfway Bush and Brockville departure
- City Departure

Halfway Bush	Brockville	Stuart at Taieri	City Depart	Cargills Cnr	St Kilda	
7:18		7:26	7:38	7:48	7:55	s
	7:48	7:57	8:08	8:18	8:25	S
8:18		8:26	8:38	8:48	8:55	
	8:48	8:57	9:08	9:18	9:25	
9:18		9:26	9:38	9:48	9:55	
	9:48	9:57	10:08	10:18	10:25	
10:18		10:26	10:38	10:48	10:55	
	10:48	10:57	11:08	11:18	11:25	
11:18		11:26	11:38	11:48	11:55	
	11:48	11:57	12:08	12:18	12:25	
12:18		12:26	12:38	12:48	12:55	
	12:48	12:57	13:08	13:18	13:25	
13:18		13:26	13:38	13:48	13:55	
	13:48	13:57	14:08	14:18	14:25	
14:18		14:26	14:38	14:48	14:55	
	14:48	14:57	15:08	15:18	15:25	
15:18		15:26	15:38	15:48	15:55	
	15:48	15:57	16:08	16:18	16:25	
16:18		16:26	16:38	16:48	16:55	
	16:48	16:57	17:08	17:18	17:25	
17:18		17:26	17:38	17:48	17:55	
	17:48	17:57	18:08	18:18	18:25	
18:18		18:26	18:38	18:48	18:55	
	18:48	18:57	19:08	19:18	19:25	
19:18		19:26	19:38	19:48	19:55	
	19:48	19:57	20:08	20:18	20:25	
20:18		20:26	20:38	20:48	20:55	s
	20:48	20:57	21:08	21:18	21:25	s
21:18		21:26	21:38	21:48	21:55	s
	21:48	21:57	22:08	22:18	22:25	s
22:18		22:26	22:38	22:48	22:55	s
	22:48	22:57	23:08	23:18	23:25	s
S = Saturda		22:57	23:08	23:18	23:25	

PTC 2015/3 Unit 4 Conditions of Contract Schedule 1 Timetables Page 8 of 24

Ross Creek / Ocean Grove

Timing points for these services are:

- Ocean Grove departure
- City Departure

Weekdays

Ocean Grove	Tainui	City Arrive	City Depart	Woodhaugh	Ross Creek
6:30	6:36	6:48	6:52	6:59	7:08
7:00	7:06	7:20	7:22	7:31	7:43
7:30	7:36	7:50	7:52	8:01	8:13
8:00	8:06	8:20	8:22	8:31	8:43
8:30	8:36	8:50	8:52	9:01	9:13
9:00	9:06	9:20	9:22	9:31	9:43
9:30	9:36	9:48	9:52	9:59	10:08
10:00	10:06	10:18	10:22	10:29	10:38
10:30	10:36	10:48	10:52	10:59	11:08
11:00	11:06	11:18	11:22	11:29	11:38
11:30	11:36	11:48	11:52	11:59	12:08
12:00	12:06	12:18	12:22	12:29	12:38
12:30	12:36	12:48	12:52	12:59	13:08
13:00	13:06	13:18	13:22	13:29	13:38
13:30	13:36	13:48	13:52	13:59	14:08
14:00	14:06	14:18	14:22	14:29	14:38
14:30	14:36	14:48	14:52	14:59	15:08
15:00	15:06	15:18	15:22	15:29	15:38
15:30	15:36	15:50	15:52	16:01	16:13
16:00	16:06	16:20	16:22	16:31	16:43
16:30	16:36	16:50	16:52	17:01	17:13
17:00	17:06	17:20	17:22	17:31	17:43
17:30	17:36	17:50	17:52	18:01	18:13
18:00	18:06	18:18	18:22	18:29	18:38
18:30	18:36	18:48	18:52	18:59	19:08
19:00	19:06	19:18	19:22	19:29	19:38
20:00	20:06	20:18	20:22	20:29	20:38
21:00	21:06	21:18	21:22	21:29	21:38
22:00	22:06	22:18	22:22	22:29	22:38

PTC 2015/3 Unit 4 Conditions of Contract Schedule 1 Timetables Page 9 of 24

- Ross Creek departure
- City Departure

Ross Creek	Woodhaugh	City Arrive	City Depart	Tainui	Ocean Grove
6:43	6:52	6:59	7:05	7:17	7:23
7:13	7:25	7:34	7:35	7:49	7:55
7:43	7:55	8:04	8:05	8:19	8:25
8:13	8:25	8:34	8:35	8:49	8:55
8:43	8:55	9:04	9:05	9:19	9:25
9:13	9:25	9:34	9:35	9:49	9:55
9:43	9:55	10:04	10:05	10:19	10:25
10:13	10:22	10:29	10:35	10:47	10:53
10:43	10:52	10:59	11:05	11:17	11:23
11:13	11:22	11:29	11:35	11:47	11:53
11:43	11:52	11:59	12:05	12:17	12:23
12:13	12:22	12:29	12:35	12:47	12:53
12:43	12:52	12:59	13:05	13:17	13:23
13:13	13:22	13:29	13:35	13:47	13:53
13:43	13:52	13:59	14:05	14:17	14:23
14:13	14:22	14:29	14:35	14:47	14:53
14:43	14:52	14:59	15:05	15:17	15:23
15:13	15:22	15:29	15:35	15:47	15:53
15:43	15:52	15:59	16:05	16:17	16:23
16:13	16:25	16:34	16:35	16:49	16:55
16:43	16:55	17:04	17:05	17:19	17:25
17:13	17:25	17:34	17:35	17:49	17:55
17:43	17:55	18:04	18:05	18:19	18:25
18:13	18:22	18:29	18:35	18:47	18:53
18:43	18:52	18:59	19:05	19:17	19:23
19:43	19:52	19:59	20:05	20:17	20:23
20:43	20:52	20:59	21:05	21:17	21:23
21:43	21:52	21:59	22:05	22:17	22:23
22:43	22:52	22:59	23:05	23:17	23:23

. F

PTC 2015/3 Unit 4 Conditions of Contract Schedule 1 Timetables Page 10 of 24

Ross Creek / Ocean Grove

Timing points for these services are:

- Ocean Grove departure
- City Departure

Saturdays, Sundays, and Public Holidays

Ocean Grove	Tainui	City Arrive	City Depart	Woodhaugh	Ross Creek	
8:00	8:06	8:18	8:22	8:29	8:38	s
9:00	9:06	9:18	9:22	9:29	9:38	
10:00	10:06	10:18	10:22	10:29	10:38	
11:00	11:06	11:18	11:22	11:29	11:38	
12:00	12:06	12:18	12:22	12:29	12:38	
13:00	13:06	13:18	13:22	13:29	13:38	
14:00	14:06	14:18	14:22	14:29	14:38	
15:00	15:06	15:18	15:22	15:29	15:38	
16:00	16:06	16:18	16:22	16:29	16:38	
17:00	17:06	17:18	17:22	17:29	17:38	
18:00	18:06	18:18	18:22	18:29	18:38	
19:00	19:06	19:18	19:22	19:29	19:38	
20:00	20:06	20:18	20:22	20:29	20:38	
21:00	21:06	21:18	21:22	21:29	21:38	S
22:00	22:06	22:18	22:22	22:29	22:38	s
23:00	23:06	23:18	23:22	23:29	23:38	s

S = Saturday only

PTC 2015/3 Unit 4 Conditions of Contract Schedule 1 Timetables Page 11 of 24

- Ross creek departure
- City Departure

Ross Creek	Woodhaugh	City Arrive	City Depart	Tainui	Ocean Grove	
7:43	7:52	7:59	8:05	8:17	8:23	s
8:43	8:52	8:59	9:05	9:17	9:23	
9:43	9:52	9:59	10:05	10:17	10:23	
10:43	10:52	10:59	11:05	11:17	11:23	
11:43	11:52	11:59	12:05	12:17	12:23	
12:43	12:52	12:59	13:05	13:17	13:23	
13:43	13:52	13:59	14:05	14:17	14:23	
14:43	14:52	14:59	15:05	15:17	15:23	
15:43	15:52	15:59	16:05	16:17	16:23	
16:43	16:52	16:59	17:05	17:17	17:23	
17:43	17:52	17:59	18:05	18:17	18:23	
18:43	18:52	18:59	19:05	19:17	19:23	
19:43	19:52	19:59	20:05	20:17	20:23	
20:43	20:52	20:59	21:05	21:17	21:23	S
21:43	21:52	21:59	22:05	22:17	22:23	S
22:43	22:52	22:59	23:05	23:17	23:23	s
23:43	23:52	23:59	0:05	0:17	0:23	s

S = Saturday only

PTC 2015/3 Unit 4 Conditions of Contract Schedule 1 Timetables Page 12 of 24

Waverley / Belleknowes

For these services we welcome an alternative timetable that provides no delay at the Waverley Terminus on the proviso that the bus is not held at the Hub for more than 4 minutes prior to departure and the service maintains the core frequency. The City departure time is critical as it is coordinated to maximise the operational efficiency of the Hub (therefore, please do not alter this)

Timing points for these services are:

- Waverley departure
- City Departure

Weekdays

Waverley	Musselburgh	City Arrive	City Depart	Arthur Street	Belleknowes
6:20	6:28	6:42	6:46	6:51	6:58
7:20	7:29	7:45	7:46	7:52	8:01
7:50	7:59	8:15	8:16	8:22	8:31
8:20	8:29	8:45	8:46	8:52	9:01
8:50	8:59	9:15	9:16	9:22	9:31
9:20	9:28	9:42	9:46	9:51	9:58
10:20	10:28	10:42	10:46	10:51	10:58
11:20	11:28	11:42	11:46	11:51	11:58
12:20	12:28	12:42	12:46	12:51	12:58
13:20	13:28	13:42	13:46	13:51	13:58
14:20	14:28	14:42	14:46	14:51	14:58
15:20	15:29	15:45	15:46	15:52	16:01
15:50	15:59	16:15	16:16	16:22	16:31
16:20	16:29	16:45	16:46	16:52	17:01
16:50	16:59	17:15	17:16	17:22	17:31
17:20	17:29	17:45	17:46	17:52	18:01
17:50	17:59	18:15	18:16	18:22	18:31
18:20	18:28	18:42	18:46	18:51	18:58
19:20	19:28	19:42	19:46	19:51	19:58
20:20	20:28	20:42	20:46	20:51	20:58
21:20	21:28	21:42	21:46	21:51	21:58
22:20	22:28	22:42	22:46	22:51	22:58
23:20	23:28	23:42	23:46	23:51	23:58

F

PTC 2015/3 Unit 4 Conditions of Contract Schedule 1 Timetables Page 13 of 24

- Belleknowes departure
- City Departure

Belleknowes	Arthur Street	City Arrive	City Depart	Musselburgh	Waverley
6:00	6:08	6:12	6:16	6:30	6:38
7:00	7:10	7:15	7:16	7:32	7:41
7:30	7:40	7:45	7:46	8:02	8:11
8:00	8:10	8:15	8:16	8:32	8:41
8:30	8:40	8:45	8:46	9:02	9:11
9:00	9:08	9:12	9:16	9:30	9:38
10:00	10:08	10:12	10:16	10:30	10:38
11:00	11:08	11:12	11:16	11:30	11:38
12:00	12:08	12:12	12:16	12:30	12:38
13:00	13:08	13:12	13:16	13:30	13:38
14:00	14:08	14:12	14:16	14:30	14:38
15:00	15:10	15:15	15:16	15:32	15:41
15:30	15:40	15:45	15:46	16:02	16:11
16:00	16:10	16:15	16:16	16:32	16:41
16:30	16:40	16:45	16:46	17:02	17:11
17:00	17:10	17:15	17:16	17:32	17:41
17:30	17:40	17:45	17:46	18:02	18:11
18:00	18:08	18:12	18:16	18:30	18:38
19:00	19:08	19:12	19:16	19:30	19:38
20:00	20:08	20:12	20:16	20:30	20:38
21:00	21:08	21:12	21:16	21:30	21:38
22:00	22:08	22:12	22:16	22:30	22:38
23:00	23:08	23:12	23:16	23:30	23:38

F

PTC 2015/3 Unit 4 Conditions of Contract Schedule 1 Timetables Page 14 of 24

Waverley / Belleknowes

For these services we welcome an alternative timetable that provides no delay at the Waverley Terminus on the proviso that the bus is not held at the Hub for more than 4 minutes prior to departure and maintains the core frequency. The City departure time is critical as it is coordinated to maximise the operational efficiency of the Hub (therefore, please do not alter this).

Timing points for these services are:

- Waverley departure
- City Departure

Saturdays, Sundays and Public Holidays

Waverley	Musselburgh	City Arrive	City Depart	Arthur Street	Belleknowes	
8:20	8:28	8:42	8:46	8:51	8:58	S
9:20	9:28	9:42	9:46	9:51	9:58	
10:20	10:28	10:42	10:46	10:51	10:58	
11:20	11:28	11:42	11:46	11:51	11:58	
12:20	12:28	12:42	12:46	12:51	12:58	
13:20	13:28	13:42	13:46	13:51	13:58	
14:20	14:28	14:42	14:46	14:51	14:58	
15:20	15:28	15:42	15:46	15:51	15:58	
16:20	16:28	16:42	16:46	16:51	16:58	
17:20	17:28	17:42	17:46	17:51	17:58	
18:20	18:28	18:42	18:46	18:51	18:58	
19:20	19:28	19:42	19:46	19:51	19:58	s
20:20	20:28	20:42	20:46	20:51	20:58	s
21:20	21:28	21:42	21:46	21:51	21:58	s
22:20	22:28	22:42	22:46	22:51	22:58	s
23:20	23:28	23:42	23:46	23:51	23:58	s

S = Saturday only

PTC 2015/3 Unit 4 Conditions of Contract Schedule 1 Timetables Page 15 of 24

- Belleknowes departure
- City Departure

Belleknowes	Arthur	City	City	Musselburgh	Waverley	1
	Street	Arrive	Depart			
0.00	0.00	0.13	0.16	0.20	0.20	s
8:00	8:08	8:12	8:16	8:30	8:38	3
9:00	9:08	9:12	9:16	9:30	9:38	
10:00	10:08	10:12	10:16	10:30	10:38	
11:00	11:08	11:12	11:16	11:30	11:38	
12:00	12:08	12:12	12:16	12:30	12:38	
13:00	13:08	13:12	13:16	13:30	13:38	
14:00	14:08	14:12	14:16	14:30	14:38	
15:00	15:08	15:12	15:16	15:30	15:38	
16:00	16:08	16:12	16:16	16:30	16:38	
17:00	17:08	17:12	17:16	17:30	17:38	
18:00	18:08	18:12	18:16	18:30	18:38	
19:00	19:08	19:12	19:16	19:30	19:38	S
20:00	20:08	20:12	20:16	20:30	20:38	S
21:00	21:08	21:12	21:16	21:30	21:38	S
22:00	22:08	22:12	22:16	22:30	22:38	S
23:00	23:08	23:12	23:16	23:30	23:38	S

S = Saturday only

PTC 2015/3 Unit 4 Conditions of Contract Schedule 1 Timetables Page 16 of 24

Kenmure

For these services we welcome an alternative timetable that provides no delay at the Bus Hub on the proviso that the bus is not held at the Hub for more than 4 minutes prior to departure and maintains the core frequency. The City departure time is critical as it is coordinated to maximise the operational efficiency of the Hub (therefore, please do not alter this).

Weekend timetables must align with Weekday timetables, but at a lesser frequency.

Timing points for these services are:

- Kenmure departure
- City Departure

Weekdays

Kenmure	Mornington	City	(City	Mornington	Kenmure
6:27	6:33	6:42	6	5:57	7:05	7:13
6:57	7:03	7:12	7	7:27	7:35	7:43
7:27	7:34	7:44	7	':57	8:06	8:15
7:57	8:04	8:14	8	3:27	8:36	8:45
8:27	8:34	8:44	8	3:57	9:06	9:15
8:57	9:04	9:14	9):27	9:36	9:45
9:27	9:33	9:42	9):57	10:05	10:13
9:57	10:03	10:12	10	0:27	10:35	10:43
10:27	10:33	10:42	10	0:57	11:05	11:13
10:57	11:03	11:12	1:	1:27	11:35	11:43
11:27	11:33	11:42	1:	1:57	12:05	12:13
11:57	12:03	12:12	12	2:27	12:35	12:43
12:27	12:33	12:42	1:	2:57	13:05	13:13
12:57	13:03	13:12	13	3:27	13:35	13:43
13:27	13:33	13:42	13	3:57	14:05	14:13
13:57	14:03	14:12	14	4:27	14:35	14:43
14:27	14:33	14:42	14	4:57	15:05	15:13
14:57	15:03	15:12	1!	5:27	15:35	15:43
15:27	15:34	15:44	1!	5:57	16:06	16:15
15:57	16:04	16:14	10	6:27	16:36	16:45
16:27	16:34	16:44	10	6:57	17:06	17:15
16:57	17:04	17:14	1	7:27	17:36	17:45
17:27	17:34	17:44	11	7:57	18:06	18:15
17:57	18:04	18:14	18	8:27	18:36	18:45
18:27	18:33	18:42	18	8:57	19:05	19:13

PTC 2015/3 Unit 4 Conditions of Contract Schedule 1 Timetables Page 17 of 24

18:57	19:03	19:12
19:27	19:33	19:42
20:27	20:33	20:42
21:27	21:33	21:42
22.27	22.33	22.42

19:27	19:35	19:43
19:57	20:05	20:13
20:57	21:05	21:13
21:57	22:05	22:13
22:57	23:05	23:13

PTC 2015/3 Unit 4 Conditions of Contract Schedule 1 Timetables Page 18 of 24

Kenmure

For these services we welcome an alternative timetable that provides no delay at the Bus Hub on the proviso that the bus is not held at the Hub for more than 4 minutes prior to departure and maintains the core frequency. The City departure time is critical as it is coordinated to maximise the operational efficiency of the Hub (therefore, please do not alter this).

Weekend timetables must align with Weekday timetables, but at a lesser frequency.

Timing points for these services are:

- Kenmure departure
- City Departure

Saturdays, Sundays and Public Holidays

Kenmure	Mornington	City	
8:27	8:33	8:42	s
9:27	9:33	9:42	
10:27	10:33	10:42	
11:27	11:33	11:42	
12:27	12:33	12:42	
13:27	13:33	13:42	
14:27	14:33	14:42	
15:27	15:33	15:42	
16:27	16:33	16:42	
17:27	17:33	17:42	
18:27	18:33	18:42	
19:27	19:33	19:42	S
20:27	20:33	20:42	S
21:27	21:33	21:42	s
22:27	22:33	22:42	s
23:27	23:33	23:42	S

City	Mornington	Kenmure	
8:57	9:05	9:13	s
9:57	10:05	10:13	
10:57	11:05	11:13	
11:57	12:05	12:13	
12:57	13:05	13:13	
13:57	14:05	14:13	
14:57	15:05	15:13	
15:57	16:05	16:13	
16:57	17:05	17:13	
17:57	18:05	18:13	
18:57	19:05	19:13	
19:57	20:05	20:13	S
20:57	21:05	21:13	S
21:57	22:05	22:13	S
22:57	23:05	23:13	S
23:57	0:05	0:13	S

S = Saturday only

PTC 2015/3 Unit 4 Conditions of Contract Schedule 1 Timetables Page 19 of 24

Schedule 1 (b)

Provisional Item 1 – Target frequency Waverley / Belleknowes

PTC 2015/3 Unit 4 Conditions of Contract Schedule 1 Timetables Page 20 of 24

Waverley / Belleknowes

For these services we welcome an alternative timetable that provides no delay at the Waverley Terminus on the proviso that the bus is not held at the Hub for more than 4 minutes prior to departure and maintains the core frequency. The City departure time is critical as it is coordinated to maximise the operational efficiency of the Hub (therefore, please do not alter this)

Timing points for these services are:

- Waverley departure
- City Departure

Weekdays

Waverley	Musselburgh	City Arrive	City Depart	Arthur Street	Belleknowes
		Arrive	Depart	Street	
6:20	6:28	6:42	6:46	6:51	6:58
6:50	6:58	7:12	7:16	7:21	7:28
7:20	7:29	7:45	7:46	7:52	8:01
7:50	7:59	8:15	8:16	8:22	8:31
8:20	8:29	8:45	8:46	8:52	9:01
8:50	8:59	9:15	9:16	9:22	9:31
9:20	9:28	9:42	9:46	9:51	9:58
9:50	9:58	10:12	10:16	10:21	10:28
10:20	10:28	10:42	10:46	10:51	10:58
10:50	10:58	11:12	11:16	11:21	11:28
11:20	11:28	11:42	11:46	11:51	11:58
11:50	11:58	12:12	12:16	12:21	12:28
12:20	12:28	12:42	12:46	12:51	12:58
12:50	12:58	13:12	13:16	13:21	13:28
13:20	13:28	13:42	13:46	13:51	13:58
13:50	13:58	14:12	14:16	14:21	14:28
14:20	14:28	14:42	14:46	14:51	14:58
14:50	14:58	15:12	15:16	15:21	15:28
15:20	15:29	15:45	15:46	15:52	16:01
15:50	15:59	16:15	16:16	16:22	16:31
16:20	16:29	16:45	16:46	16:52	17:01
16:50	16:59	17:15	17:16	17:22	17:31
17:20	17:29	17:45	17:46	17:52	18:01
17:50	17:59	18:15	18:16	18:22	18:31
18:20	18:28	18:42	18:46	18:51	18:58
18:50	18:58	19:12	19:16	19:21	19:28
19:20	19:28	19:42	19:46	19:51	19:58
20:20	20:28	20:42	20:46	20:51	20:58
21:20	21:28	21:42	21:46	21:51	21:58
22:20	22:28	22:42	22:46	22:51	22:58
23:20	23:28	23:42	23:46	23:51	23:58

PTC 2015/3 Unit 4 Conditions of Contract Schedule 1 Timetables Page 21 of 24

- Belleknowes departure
- City Departure

Belleknowes	Arthur Street	City Arrive	City Depart	Musselburgh	Waverley
6:00	6:08	6:12	6:16	6:30	6:38
6:30	6:38	6:42	6:46	7:00	7:08
7:00	7:10	7:15	7:16	7:32	7:41
7:30	7:40	7:45	7:46	8:02	8:11
8:00	8:10	8:15	8:16	8:32	8:41
8:30	8:40	8:45	8:46	9:02	9:11
9:00	9:08	9:12	9:16	9:30	9:38
9:30	9:38	9:42	9:46	10:00	10:08
10:00	10:08	10:12	10:16	10:30	10:38
10:30	10:38	10:42	10:46	11:00	11:08
11:00	11:08	11:12	11:16	11:30	11:38
11:30	11:38	11:42	11:46	12:00	12:08
12:00	12:08	12:12	12:16	12:30	12:38
12:30	12:38	12:42	12:46	13:00	13:08
13:00	13:08	13:12	13:16	13:30	13:38
13:30	13:38	13:42	13:46	14:00	14:08
14:00	14:08	14:12	14:16	14:30	14:38
14:30	14:38	14:42	14:46	15:00	15:08
15:00	15:10	15:15	15:16	15:32	15:41
15:30	15:40	15:45	15:46	16:02	16:11
16:00	16:10	16:15	16:16	16:32	16:41
16:30	16:40	16:45	16:46	17:02	17:11
17:00	17:10	17:15	17:16	17:32	17:41
17:30	17:40	17:45	17:46	18:02	18:11
18:00	18:08	18:12	18:16	18:30	18:38
18:30	18:38	18:42	18:46	19:00	19:08
19:00	19:08	19:12	19:16	19:30	19:38
20:00	20:08	20:12	20:16	20:30	20:38
21:00	21:08	21:12	21:16	21:30	21:38
22:00	22:08	22:12	22:16	22:30	22:38
23:00	23:08	23:12	23:16	23:30	23:38

PTC 2015/3 Unit 4 Conditions of Contract Schedule 1 Timetables Page 22 of 24

Waverley / Belleknowes

For these services we welcome an alternative timetable that provides no delay at the Waverley Terminus on the proviso that the bus is not held at the Hub for more than 4 minutes prior to departure and maintains the core frequency. The City departure time is critical as it is coordinated to maximise the operational efficiency of the Hub (therefore, please do not alter this)

Timing points for these services are:

- Waverley departure
- City Departure

Saturdays, Sundays and Public Holidays

Waverley	Musselburgh	City	City	Arthur	Belleknowes	
		Arrive	Depart	Street		
8:20	8:28	8:42	8:46	8:51	8:58	s
9:20	9:28	9:42	9:46	9:51	9:58	
10:20	10:28	10:42	10:46	10:51	10:58	
11:20	11:28	11:42	11:46	11:51	11:58	
12:20	12:28	12:42	12:46	12:51	12:58	
13:20	13:28	13:42	13:46	13:51	13:58	
14:20	14:28	14:42	14:46	14:51	14:58	
15:20	15:28	15:42	15:46	15:51	15:58	
16:20	16:28	16:42	16:46	16:51	16:58	
17:20	17:28	17:42	17:46	17:51	17:58	
18:20	18:28	18:42	18:46	18:51	18:58	
19:20	19:28	19:42	19:46	19:51	19:58	S
20:20	20:28	20:42	20:46	20:51	20:58	S
21:20	21:28	21:42	21:46	21:51	21:58	S
22:20	22:28	22:42	22:46	22:51	22:58	S
23:20	23:28	23:42	23:46	23:51	23:58	s

S = Saturday only

PTC 2015/3 Unit 4 Conditions of Contract Schedule 1 Timetables Page 23 of 24

- Belleknowes departure
- City Departure

Belleknowes	Arthur	City	City	Musselburgh	Waverley	
	Street	Arrive	Depart			
8:00	8:08	8:12	8:16	8:30	8:38	s
9:00	9:08	9:12	9:16	9:30	9:38	
10:00	10:08	10:12	10:16	10:30	10:38	
11:00	11:08	11:12	11:16	11:30	11:38	
12:00	12:08	12:12	12:16	12:30	12:38	
13:00	13:08	13:12	13:16	13:30	13:38	
14:00	14:08	14:12	14:16	14:30	14:38	
15:00	15:08	15:12	15:16	15:30	15:38	
16:00	16:08	16:12	16:16	16:30	16:38	
17:00	17:08	17:12	17:16	17:30	17:38	
18:00	18:08	18:12	18:16	18:30	18:38	
19:00	19:08	19:12	19:16	19:30	19:38	S
20:00	20:08	20:12	20:16	20:30	20:38	s
21:00	21:08	21:12	21:16	21:30	21:38	S
22:00	22:08	22:12	22:16	22:30	22:38	s
23:00	23:08	23:12	23:16	23:30	23:38	S

S = Saturday only

PTC 2015/3 Unit 4 Conditions of Contract Schedule 1 Timetables Page 24 of 24

Schedule 2 - Route details, distances and peak bus

Schedule		Page				
2 (a)	Stage 1 From Contract commencement	2				
2 (b)	Stage 1A From Contract commencement	9 and with an operational Bus Hub				
2 (c)	Councils estimated route distances	and peak bus	38			

PTC 2015/3 Unit 4 Conditions of Contract Schedule 2 Route details Page 1 of 26

Schedule 2 (a)

Stage 1
From Contract Commencement
St Kilda / Halfway Bush / Brockville
Waverley / Belleknowes
Ross Creek / Ocean Grove
Kenmure

Notes to Go Bus

Buses must stop at all bus stops on the route unless otherwise specified by the Otago Regional Council. The specific location of bus stops may change as a result of the 2015 bus stop review and new bus stops may be added to the bus routes specified in this tender. When added to a route, the bus will be expected to use the new bus stop, unless it is specified as exempt by the Otago Regional Council.

The bus stops listed in this tender are those current on 1 June 2015.

PTC 2015/3 Unit 4 Conditions of Contract Schedule 2 Route details Page 2 of 26

Route 44 (a) St Kilda to Halfway Bush

All services

To travel from the St Kilda terminus on Victoria Road, turn left onto Prince Albert Road and continue on King Edward Street before turning right onto Hillside Road and left onto Andersons Bay Road. Follow Andersons Bay Road to the Oval and onto State Highway 1 (Crawford Street – northbound). Follow Crawford Street to Queens Gardens continuing on the State Highway which becomes Cumberland Street. Turn left onto Lower Stuart Street left into the Octagon to Stand 3 (Reading Cinemas). From Stand 3 (Reading Cinemas) turn left into Upper Stuart Street. Follow Stuart Street and continue on to Taieri Road turning left at Ashmore Street. Follow Ashmore Street to the terminus.

The table to the right lists the bus stops on the route as at 1 June 2015.

Location	Bus Stop ID
St Kilda Terminus (adjacent to Freyberg Street)	XXX
Prince Albert Rd, by Beach Hotel	761
Prince Albert Rd, 110	758
Prince Albert, just past Council St	762
Prince Albert Rd, 50	766
King Edward St, 413	481
King Edward St, 375	479
King Edward St, 275	476
King Edward St, 135	482
Andersons Bay outside Caledonian	22
SH1 new stop	XXX
Octagon, outside Reading Cinemas (Stand 3)	3
Stuart St, King Edward Court	951
Stuart St, OBHS layby	954
Stuart St, OBHS tennis Courts	955
Stuart St, cnr Strathmore Cres	950
Stuart St, below Roslyn	948
Taieri Rd, 117	961
Taieri Rd, 155	962
Taieri Rd, 185	964
Taieri Rd, Fern Tree reserve	977
Taieri Rd, 251	966
Taieri Rd, 269	967
Taieri Rd, outside Lesley Groves Hosp.	983
Taieri Rd, 321 outside Wakari Hospital	969
Ashmore St, 7	48
Ashmore St, 27	46
Ashmore St, 97	49
Ashmore St, 111	43
Ashmore St, 163	45

PTC 2015/3 Unit 4 Conditions of Contract Schedule 2 Route details Page 3 of 26

Route 44 (b) Halfway Bush to St Kilda

All services

To travel from the Halfway Bush terminus (Ashmore Street), via upper Ashmore Street, turning right onto Taieri Road and continuing along this and onto Stuart Street. Follow Stuart Street turning left onto York Place and continuing on to St Andrew Street. Turn right into George Street, through the Octagon and onto Princes Street to stop at Stand 1. From Stand 1 (Princes Street) travel along Princes Street to turn left onto Jervois Street and right onto Cumberland Street. Follow Cumberland Street, keeping left until it becomes Andersons Bay Road. Turn right onto Hillside Road and left onto King Edward Street turning right onto Bay View Road, and left onto Moreau Street and Victoria Road to the Terminus (location not yet specified).

The table to the right lists the bus stops on the route as at 1 June 2015.

Location	Bus Stop ID
Ashmore St, Halfway Bush terminus	45
Taieri Rd, 466	975
Taieri Rd, 416	972
Taieri Rd, 372	970
Taieri Rd, opposite Wakari Hosp. entrance	981
Taieri Rd, 302	980
Taieri Rd, 278	968
Taieri Rd, 240	965
Taieri Rd, corner Gilmore St	976
Taieri Rd, 178	963
Taieri Rd, opposite 117	978
Stuart St, layby before Highgate	952
Stuart St, opposite Strathmore Cres	956
Stuart St, corner Littlebourne Rd	953
Stuart St, 330 on traffic island below Moana Pool	949
York Place, Jehovah's Witnesses' Church	1025
George St, outside Farmers	307
George St, between Moray Place and Bath St (stand 7)	7
Princes St, Evan Parry House (Stand 1)	1
Princes St, Dowling St corner	769
Princes St, 265 outside Speed Print	773
Princes St, 449	778
Princes St, past Jetty St	774
Jervois Street (new)	XXX
State Highway 1 new stop	XXX
Andersons Bay Rd, 280	25
Hillside Road, NEW	XXX
King Edward Street, 134	484
King Edward Street, 220	475
King Edward Street, 300	477
King Edward Street, 340	478
King Edward Street, 386	480
Bay View Rd, 71	71
Bay View Rd, 87A	72
Bay View Rd, 113	66
Moreau St, 15 NEW	XXX
Moreau St, opp 64 NEW	XXX
St Kilda Terminus NEW adjacent to Freyberg St	XXX

PTC 2015/3 Unit 4 Conditions of Contract Schedule 2 Route details Page 4 of 26

Route 55 (a) St Kilda to Brockville

All services

To travel from the St Kilda terminus on Victoria Road, turn left onto Prince Albert Road and continue on King Edward Street before turning right onto Hillside Road and left onto Andersons Bay Road. Follow Andersons Bay Road to the Oval and onto State Highway 1 (Crawford Street Follow Crawford Street to northbound). Queens Gardens continuing on the State Highway which becomes Cumberland Street. Turn left onto Lower Stuart Street left into the Octagon to Stand 3 (Reading Cinemas). From Stand 3 (Reading Cinemas) turn left into Upper Stuart Street. Follow Stuart Street onto Taieri Road and turn left at Mellor Street, then right onto Kaikorai Valley Road. Turn right onto Brockville Road and stop at the Brockville terminus (bus bay).

The table to the right lists the bus stops on the route as at 1 June 2015.

Lacation	Bus Stop ID
Location	·
St Kilda Terminus (adjacent to Freyberg Street)	XXX
Prince Albert Rd, by Beach Hotel	761
Prince Albert Rd, 110	758
Prince Albert, just past Council St	762
Prince Albert Rd, 50	766
King Edward St, 413	481
King Edward St, 375	479
King Edward St, 275	476
King Edward St, 135	482
Andersons Bay outside Caledonian	22
SH1 new stop	XXX
Octagon, outside Reading Cinemas (Stand 3)	3
Stuart St, King Edward Court	951
Stuart St, OBHS layby	954
Stuart St, OBHS tennis Courts	955
Stuart St, cnr Strathmore Cres	950
Stuart St, below Roslyn	948
Taieri Rd, 117	961
Kaikorai Valley Rd, 47	454
Kaikorai Valley Rd, 93	456
Kaikorai Valley Rd, 115	459
Brockville Rd, 19	139
Brockville Rd, 47	143
Brockville Rd, opposite Charters St	144
Brockville Rd, 165	138
Brockville Rd, 193	140
Brockville Rd, 247	134
Brockville Rd, 263	142
Brockville Rd, St Joseph's Church	145
Brockville terminus	146
	1

PTC 2015/3 Unit 4 Conditions of Contract Schedule 2 Route details Page 5 of 26

Route 55 (b) Brockville to St Kilda

All services

To travel from the Brockville terminus via Brockville Road turn left onto Kaikorai Valley Road, left onto Mellor Street, and right onto Taieri Road/Stuart Street. Follow Stuart Street turning left onto York Place and continuing on to St Andrew Street. Turn right into George Street, through the Octagon and onto Princes Street to stop at Stand 1. From Stand 1 (Princes Street) Travel along Princes Street to turn left onto Jervois Street and right onto Cumberland Street. Follow Cumberland Street, keeping left until it becomes Andersons Bay Road. Turn right onto Hillside Road and left onto King Edward Street turning right onto Bay View Road, and left onto Moreau Street and Victoria Road to the Terminus (location not yet specified).

The table to the right lists the bus stops on the route as at 1 June 2015.

Location	Bus Stop ID
Brockville terminus	146
Brockville Rd, outside Community Hall near corne	137
Brockville Rd, 247	141
Brockvile Rd, 224	133
Brockville Rd, 162	132
Brockville Rd, 110	131
Brockville Rd, 48	136
Kaikorai Valley Rd, 150 outside Mower Centre	451
Kaikorai Valley Rd,70	455
Taieri Rd, opposite 117	978
Stuart St, layby before Highgate	952
Stuart St, opposite Strathmore Cres	956
Stuart St, corner Littlebourne Rd	953
Stuart St, 330 on traffic island below Moana Poo	949
York Place, Jehovah's Witnesses' Church	1025
George St, outside Farmers	307
George St, between Moray Place and Bath St (star	7
Princes St, Evan Parry House (Stand 1)	1
Princes St, Dowling St corner	769
Princes St, 265 outside Speed Print	773
Princes St, past Jetty St	774
Princes St, 449	778
Jervois Street (new)	XXX
State Highway 1 new stop	XXX
Andersons Bay Rd, 280	25
Hillside Road, NEW	XXX
King Edward Street, 134	484
King Edward Street, 220	475
King Edward Street, 300	477
King Edward Street, 340	478
King Edward Street, 386	480
Bay View Rd, 71	71
Bay View Rd, 87A	72
Bay View Rd, 113	66
Moreau St, 15 NEW	XXX
Moreau St, opp 64 NEW	XXX
St Kilda Terminus NEW adjacent to Freyberg St	XXX

PTC 2015/3 Unit 4 Conditions of Contract Schedule 2 Route details Page 6 of 26

Route 19 (a) Waverley to Belleknowes

All services

Travel from the Waverley terminus in Murano Street, turning right onto Scobie Road, left onto Belford Street, right onto Eastbank Street, and left onto Scott Street. Turn left at the round-a-bout onto Larnach Road then left onto Marne Street and right onto Somerville Street before turning right onto Musselburgh Rise. Musselburgh Rise will become Andersons Bay Road. Follow Andersons Bay Road to the Oval and turn right onto Princes Street, right into Moray Place, right onto Lower Stuart Street and left into Cumberland Street continuing on to Stand 5 (New World). From Stand 5, turn left onto Hanover Street, to Stand 7. Follow George Street through the Octagon and onto Princes Street. Turn right onto Rattray Street and right to continue up Rattray Street and on to City Road. Follow City Road to the left onto Ross Street, and left onto Highgate. Continue on to Kenmure Road turning left into Rosebery Street, right into Beaumont Road and right into Napier Street, stopping at the terminus.

The table to the right lists the bus stops on the route as at 1 June 2015.

Location	Bus Stop ID
Murano Street, 64	596
Scobie Rd, opposite Botting Place intersection	834
Belford St, 144	76
Belford St, on reserve opposite 131	79
Belford St, 94 just past Mannering St	78
Belford St, 68	77
Eastbank St, 8	243
Scott St, opposite Scout Hall	835
Larnach Rd, before Marne St	486
Musselburgh Rise, 292	612
Musselburgh Rise, 140	610
Musselburgh Rise, 84	614
Musselburgh Rise, 42	613
Andersons Bay Rd at Hotel 555	19
Andersons Bay Rd, just past Oxford St (KFC)	21
Andersons Bay Rd outside McDonalds	17
Andersons Bay Rd, just past McBride St	20
Andersons Bay Rd, outside Caledonian Gym	22
Andersons Bay Rd, by Oval	18
Princes St, Manor Place cnr	781
Princes St, 398	771
Princes St, 300 (The Exchange)	767
Princes St, 138	770
Cumberland St, Countdown	4
Cumberland St, Centre City New World terminus	5
George St, outside ASB	306
George St, outside Farmers	307
George St between Moray Pl and Bath St (Stand 7)	7
Princes St, Evan Parry House (Stand 1)	1
Princes St, Dowling St cnr	769
Rattray St, by Southern Cross Carpark	793
Rattray St , 373 above Arthur St	790
Ross St, Robin Hood Park	820
Ross St, 5	818
Ross St, 43	817
Highgate, 8	1101
Kenmure Rd, 39	1100
Kenmure Rd, opposite 84 (End of zone)	1098
Rosebery St, 38	810
Rosebery St, 4	811
Napier St, 7	1043

PTC 2015/3 Unit 4 Conditions of Contract Schedule 2 Route details Page 7 of 26

Route 19 (b) Belleknowes to Waverley

All services

To travel from the Napier Street terminus, turn right onto Kenmure Road and straight onto Highgate, following this to turn left into Belgrave Cres. From the first stop in Belgrave Crescent turn around and cross Highgate, continuing onto Ross Street and right onto City Road. Follow City Road onto Rattray Street, turning left onto Smith Street and following it as it changes to York Place and St Andrew Street. Turn right into George Street and stop at Stand 7. Continue on to Princes Street, turning left onto Jervois St and right onto Cumberland Street. Follow Cumberland Street, keeping left until it becomes Andersons Bay Road. Continue along Andersons Bay Road, this becomes Musselburgh Rise. Turn left onto Sommerville Street, and left onto Marne Street, before turning right onto Larnach Road. Follow Larnarch Road turning right onto Murano Street and stopping at the Murano Street terminus.

The table to the right lists the bus stops on the route as at 1 June 2015.

	1
Location	Bus Stop ID
Napier St, 7	1043
Kenmure Rd, 82 (END OF ZONE)	1104
Kenmure Rd, 34	1099
Highgate , 21 (Church)	1102
Highgate , 53	1103
Belgrave Cres, outside side boundary 71 highgate	80
Ross St, 50	819
Ross St, 34	816
Ross St, 10	815
Rattray St, edge of reserve adjacent to Arthur St School	794
Rattray NEW STOP	XXX
Smith St, NEW STOP	XXX
George St, 286	306
George St, at Farmers	307
George St Stand 7	7
George St, Stand 1	1
George St, 155	769
Princes St, 265 Outside Speed Print	773
Princes St, past Jetty St	774
Princes St, Traders opposite Carroll St	778
Jervois St, NEW STOP	XXX
State Highway 1 NEW STOP	XXX
Andersons Bay Rd, outside Mitsubishi Motors	25
Andersons Bay, Mill Liquor Store	28
Andersons Bay Rd, Cooke Howlison	26
Andersons Bay Rd, outside old Countdown	30
Musselburgh Rise, 1 DCC flats	609
Musselburgh Rise, opposite Wardlaw St	616
Muselburgh Rise, 79	618
Musselburgh Rise, 141	611
Musselburgh Rise, edge of Bayfield Park	615
Larnach Rd, opposite 14	1118
Larnach Rd, reserve just past 75 (Waverley)	487
Larnach Rd, 127	1046
Larnach Rd, 175	1058
Larnach Rd, 195	1047
Larnach Rd, 219	1032
Larnach Rd, 239	485
Larnach Rd, 251	488
Murano St, 64 terminus	596

PTC 2015/3 Unit 4 Conditions of Contract Schedule 2 Route details Page 8 of 26

Route 3 (a) Ross Creek to Ocean Grove

All services

To travel from the Ross Creek terminus (Garden Place) turn right onto Tanner Road, and then right onto Glenholm Street, this becomes Glenmore Street. Then turn right onto Fulton Road, right onto Malvern Street, which then becomes Duke Street. From Duke Street, turn right onto George Street and continue through the Octagon to Princes Street and stop at Stand 1. From Stand 1, continue on Princes Street Street to turn left onto Jervois Street and right onto Cumberland Street. Turning right onto State Highway 1 Cumberland Street (southbound). Follow the State Highway onto Andersons Bay Road continuing straight through the round-a-bout onto Musselburgh Rise. Turn right onto Royal Crescent, left onto Marlow Street, right onto Cavell Street, left onto Tahuna Road to Bay Cemetery at corner of Tahuna Road and Tomahawk Road. Continue on along Tomahawk Road to the Ocean Grove terminus at corner of Luke Street and Tomahawk Road.

The table to the right lists the bus stops on the route as at 1 June 2015.

1	D Ct ID
Location	Bus Stop ID
Garden Place, Ross Creek terminus	290
Glenholm St, opposite 55	322
Glenmore St, 38	323
Glenmore St, 6	325
Malvern St, cnr Fulton Rd	289
Malvern St, oppposite 347	558
Malvern St, opposite 311	551
Malvern St, opposite 279	547
Malvern St, 220 (End of zone)	546
Malvern St, 182	544
Malvern St, opposite 145	555
Malvern St, near Rockside Rd	1137
Malvern St, oppposite 63	559
Malvern St, 28	548
Duke St, 18	229
George St, 968	302
George St, 888	301
George St, 798	299
George St, 664	295
George St, 586	293
George St, 504	292
George St, 472 outside Plunket House	308
George St, outside ASB	306
George St, outside Farmers	307
George St, between Moray PI and Bath St (Stand	7
Princes St, Evan Parrry House (Stand 1)	1
Princes St, Dowling St cnr	769
Princes St, Ex Chief Post Office	782
Jervous St, NEW STOP	XXX
State Highway 1 NEW STOP	XXX
Andersons Bay Rd, 280	25
Andersons Bay Rd, 408	28
Andersons Bay Rd outside Cook Howlison	26
Andersons Bay Rd beside old Countdown	30
Musselburgh Rise, 1 Outside DCC flats	609
Royal Cres, 9	822
Royal Cres, St Kilda Bowling Club	826
Royal Cres, Culling Park	823
Marlow St, 79	562
Cavell St, 73	175
Cavell St, 91	176
Cavell St, 123	173
	958
Tahuna Ed past Norman St Tahuna Rd, corner Tomahawk Rd, Bay Cemetery	957
	990
Tomahawk Rd, 179	990
Tomahawk Rd by lagoon	
Tomahawk Rd, 285	992
Tomahawk Rd terminus	994

PTC 2015/3 Unit 4 Conditions of Contract Schedule 2 Route details Page 9 of 26

Route 3 (b) Ocean Grove to Ross Creek

All services

To travel from the Ocean Grove terminus at corner of Tomahawk Road and Luke Street following Tomahawk Road onto Tahuna Road, then turn right onto Cavell Street, left into Marlow Street, right into Royal Crescent, then left onto Andersons Bay Road. Follow Andersons Bay Road to the Oval and turn right onto Princes Street to stop at Stand 2. From Stand 2, continue through the Octagon onto George Street. Follow George Street, then turn left onto Duke Street. Turn left onto Duke Street, which becomes Malvern Street, and then turn left onto Fulton Road. From Fulton Road, turn left onto Glenmore Street, which becomes Glenholm Street. Turn left onto Tanner Road, and then left into Garden Place - the Ross Creek terminus.

The table to the right lists the bus stops on the route as at 1 June 2015.

Location	Bus Stop ID
Tomahawk Rd, Ocean Grove terminus	995
Tomahawk Rd, outside Ocean Grove Church	993
Tomahawk Rd, Tomahawk Lagoon	997
Tomahawk Rd, opposite 181	1120
Tomahawk Rd, outside Cemetery	996
Tahuna Rd, shelter on golf course	959
Cavell St, 130	174
Cavell St, 112	172
Cavell St, 94	177
Marlow St, 86 (end of zone)	563
Marlow St, 62	561
Royal Cres, opposite Culling Park	825
Royal Cres, opposite 25a	824
Royal Cres, before Andersons Bay Rd	821
Andersons Bay Rd, corner Bay View Rd	19
Andersons Bay Rd, by Oxford St (outside KFC)	21
Andersons Bay Rd, at McDonalds	17
Andersons Bay Rd, 353	20
Andersons Bay Rd, Caledonian	22
Andersons Bay Rd, at Oval	18
Princes St, Market Reserve	781
Princes St, 398	771
Princes St,300 (The Exchange)	767
Princes St, 138	770
Princes St, 68 entrance to Savoy Building (Stand 2)	2
George St, 19 outside Civic Centre (Stand 8)	8
George St outside State Insurance	310
George St, 307	314
George St, 475 Alexis Motor Lodge	309
George St, 607	294
George St, 745	296
George St at Dundas	300
George St, George St Normal School	303
Duke st outside Dairy	231
Malvern St, 3	549
Malvern St, 31	550
Malvern St, 65	552
Malvern St, 79	553
Malvern St, near Rockside Rd	1136
Malvern St, 145	542
Malvern St, opposite 180	543
Malvern St, opposite 218	545
Malvern St, 279	556
Malvern St, 311	557
Malvern St, 339	560
Fulton Rd, 385	288
Glenmore St, opposite 6	326
Glenmore St, 39	324
Glenholm St, 57	321
Tanner Rd, 106	984
·	
Garden Place, Ross Creek terminus	290

PTC 2015/3 Unit 4 Conditions of Contract Schedule 2 Route details Page 10 of 26

Route 61 (a) Kenmure to City

All services

To travel from Kenmure terminus (outside 513 Kaikorai Valley Road) via Kaikorai Valley Road, turn left onto Barr Street, left onto Kenmure Road, turning right onto Stanley Street and left into Elgin Road. Turn right onto Mailer Street, and continue on to High Street, turning left at Broadway, right at Rattray Street and left onto Princes Street. Turn right into Moray Place and right into Lower Stuart Street, left onto Cumberland Street and stop at Stand 5 (New World).

The table to the right lists the bus stops on the route as at 1 June 2015.

Location	Bus Stop ID
Kaikorai Valley Rd, Barr St Kenmure Terminus	457
Kenmure Rd, 332 (End of zone)	471
Stanley St, 42	930
Stanley St, 8	929
Elgin Rd, 44	253
Elgin Rd, 16	1033
Mailer St, oposite Mornington Tavern	1048
Mailer St, Mornington terminus (End of zone)	513
Eglinton Rd, opposite Peel St	250
Eglinton Rd, just below Queen Drive	396
High St, 440	394
High St, 412	393
High St, 382	391
High St, 310	389
High St, 246	387
High St, 184	386
Rattray St, Philip Laing House	792
Princes St, 138	770
Cumberland St, Countdown	4
Cumberland St, Centre City New World Stand 5	5

PTC 2015/3 Unit 4 Conditions of Contract Schedule 2 Route details Page 11 of 26

Route 61 (b) City to Kenmure

All services

From Stand 5 (New World), turn left into Hanover Street, left into George Street and continue through the Octagon to Princes Street. Turn right into Rattray Street, left into Broadway, and right into High Street. Continue on up High Street to Mailer Street, turning left at Elgin Road, right at Stanley Street, and left at Kenmure Road. Turn right at Bryant Street and left onto Kaikorai Valley Road travelling to the Kenmure terminus (outside 513 Kaikorai Valley Road, just before the Barr Street corner).

The table to the right lists the bus stops on the route as at 1 June 2015.

Location	Bus Stop ID
Cumberland St, Centre City New World	5
Geoge St, outside ASB	306
George St, outside Farmers	307
George St, between Moray PI and Bath St (Stand	7
Princes St, Evan Parry House (Stand 1)	1
Princes St, Dowling St cnr	769
Rattray St, by Southern Cross Carpark	793
High St, 249	388
High St, 327	390
High St, 403	392
High St, opposite High St School	385
Eglinton Rd/High Stintersection	251
Eglinton Rd, 154	248
Mailer St, 2 outside Golden Wok	512
Mailer St, 58 just past	514
Elgin Rd, 27	252
Elgin Rd, 71	254
Stanley St, 5	928
Stanley St, 39	927
Bryant St, 3 (end of zone)	152
Kaikorai Valley Rd, corner Bryant St	463
Kaikorai Valley Rd, Barr St Kenmure Terminus	457

PTC 2015/3 Unit 4 Conditions of Contract Schedule 2 Route details Page 12 of 26

Schedule 2 (b)

Stage 1A From contract commencement with an operational Bus Hub St Kilda / Halfway Bush / Brockville Waverley / Belleknowes Ross Creek / Ocean Grove Kenmure

Notes to Go Bus

Buses must stop at all bus stops on the route unless otherwise specified by the Otago Regional Council. The specific location of bus stops may change as a result of the 2015 bus stop review and new bus stops may be added to the bus routes specified in this tender. When added to a route, the bus will be expected to use the new bus stop, unless it is specified as exempt by the Otago Regional Council.

The bus stops listed in this tender are those current on 1 June 2015.

PTC 2015/3 Unit 4 Conditions of Contract Schedule 2 Route details Page 13 of 26

Route 44 (a) St Kilda to Halfway Bush

All services

To travel from the St Kilda terminus on Victoria Street, turn left onto Prince Albert Road and straight onto King Edward Street and right onto Hillside Road before turning left onto Andersons Bay Road. Follow Andersons Bay Road to the Oval and onto State Highway 1 (Crawford Street northbound). Follow Crawford Street to Queens Gardens continuing on the State Highway which becomes Cumberland Street. Turn left onto Lower Stuart Street and then right onto Moray Place and right into the city bus Hub at Great King From the bus Hub, turn left into St Andrew Street, and follow this as it changes to York Place and Smith Street, turning right onto Stuart Street. Follow Stuart Street and continue on to Taieri Road turning left at Ashmore Street. Follow Ashmore Street to the terminus.

The table to the right lists the bus stops on the route as at 1 June 2015.

Location	Bus Stop ID
St Kilda Terminus (adjacent to Freyberg Street)	XXX
Prince Albert Rd, by Beach Hotel	761
Prince Albert Rd, 110	758
Prince Albert, just past Council St	762
Prince Albert Rd, 50	766
King Edward St, 413	481
King Edward St, 375	479
King Edward St, 275	476
King Edward St, 135	482
Andersons Bay outside Caledonian	22
SH1 new stop	XXX
BUS HUB	
Stuart St, King Edward Court	951
Stuart St, OBHS layby	954
Stuart St, OBHS tennis Courts	955
Stuart St, cnr Strathmore Cres	950
Stuart St, below Roslyn	948
Taieri Rd, 117	961
Taieri Rd, 155	962
Taieri Rd, 185	964
Taieri Rd, Fern Tree reserve	977
Taieri Rd, 251	966
Taieri Rd, 269	967
Taieri Rd, outside Lesley Groves Hosp.	983
Taieri Rd, 321 outside Wakari Hospital	969
Ashmore St, 7	48
Ashmore St, 27	46
Ashmore St, 97	49
Ashmore St, 111	43
Ashmore St, 163	45

PTC 2015/3 Unit 4 Conditions of Contract Schedule 2 Route details Page 14 of 26

Route 44 (b) Halfway Bush to St

Kilda

All services

To travel from the Halfway Bush terminus (Ashmore Street), via upper Ashmore Street, turning right onto Taieri Road and continuing along this and onto Stuart Street. Follow Stuart Street turning left onto York Place which changes to St Andrew Street. Turn right into the Great King Street From the bus Hub, turn bus Hub. left onto Moray Place, then left onto Lower Stuart Street and right onto Castle Street. Follow Castle Street as it changes to be Cumberland Street, keeping left until it becomes Andersons Bay Road. Turn right onto Hillside Road and left onto King Edward Street. Turn right onto Bay View Road and left onto Moreau Street before turning left onto Victoria Road and stopping at the Terminus (location not yet defined).

The table to the right lists the bus stops on the route as at 1 June 2015.

Location	Bus Stop ID
Ashmore St, Halfway Bush terminus	45
Taieri Rd, 466	975
Taieri Rd, 416	972
Taieri Rd, 372	970
Taieri Rd, opposite Wakari Hosp. entrance	981
Taieri Rd, 302	980
Taieri Rd, 278	968
Taieri Rd, 240	965
Taieri Rd, corner Gilmore St	976
Taieri Rd, 178	963
Taieri Rd, opposite 117	978
Stuart St, layby before Highgate	952
Stuart St, opposite Strathmore Cres	956
Stuart St, corner Littlebourne Rd	953
Stuart St, 330 on traffic island below Moana Pool	949
York Place, Jehovah's Witnesses' Church	1025
BUS HUB	
State Highway 1 new stop	XXX
State Highway 1 new stop	XXX
State Highway 1 new stop	XXX
Andersons Bay Rd, 280	25
Hillside Road, NEW	XXX
King Edward Street, 134	484
King Edward Street, 220	475
King Edward Street, 300	477
King Edward Street, 340	478
King Edward Street, 386	480
Bay View Rd, 71	71
Bay View Rd, 87A	72
Bay View Rd, 113	66
Moreau St, 15 NEW	XXX
Moreau St, opp 64 NEW	XXX
St Kilda Terminus NEW adjacent to Freyberg St	XXX

PTC 2015/3 Unit 4 Conditions of Contract Schedule 2 Route details Page 15 of 26

Route 55 (a) St Kilda to Brockville

All services

To travel from the St Kilda terminus on Victoria Street, turn left onto Prince Albert Road and straight onto King Edward Street and right onto Hillside Road before turning left onto Andersons Bay Road. Follow Andersons Bay Road to the Oval and onto State Highway 1 (Crawford Street Follow Crawford Street to northbound). Queens Gardens continuing on the State Highway which becomes Cumberland Street. Turn left onto Lower Stuart Street and then right onto Moray Place and right into the city bus Hub at Great King Street. From the bus Hub, turn left into St Andrew Street, and follow this as it changes to York Place and Smith Street, turning right onto Stuart Street. Follow Stuart Street onto Taieri Road and turn left at Mellor Street, then right onto Kaikorai Valley Road. Turn right onto Brockville Road and stop at the Brockville terminus (bus bay).

The table to the right lists the bus stops on the route as at 1 June 2015.

Location	Bus Stop ID
St Kilda Terminus (adjacent to Freyberg Street)	XXX
Prince Albert Rd, by Beach Hotel	761
Prince Albert Rd, 110	758
Prince Albert, just past Council St	762
Prince Albert Rd, 50	766
King Edward St, 413	481
King Edward St, 375	479
King Edward St, 275	476
King Edward St, 135	482
Andersons Bay outside Caledonian	22
SH1 new stop	XXX
BUS HUB	
Stuart St, King Edward Court	951
Stuart St, OBHS layby	954
Stuart St, OBHS tennis Courts	955
Stuart St, cnr Strathmore Cres	950
Stuart St, below Roslyn	948
Taieri Rd, 117	961
Kaikorai Valley Rd, 47	454
Kaikorai Valley Rd, 93	456
Kaikorai Valley Rd, 115	459
Brockville Rd, 19	139
Brockville Rd, 47	143
Brockville Rd, opposite Charters St	144
Brockville Rd, 165	138
Brockville Rd, 193	140
Brockville Rd, 247	134
Brockville Rd, 263	142
Brockville Rd, St Joseph's Church	145
Brockville terminus	146

PTC 2015/3 Unit 4 Conditions of Contract Schedule 2 Route details Page 16 of 26

Route 55 (b) Brockville to St Kilda

All services

To travel from the Brockville terminus via Brockville Road turn left onto Kaikorai Valley Road, left onto Mellor Street. and right onto Taieri Road/Stuart Street. Follow Stuart Street turning left onto York Place and follow this as it changes to St Andrew Street. Turn right into the Great King Street bus Hub. From the bus Hub, turn left onto Moray Place, then left onto Lower Stuart Street and right onto Castle Street. Follow Castle Street as it changes to be Cumberland Street, keeping left until it becomes Andersons Bay Road. Turn right onto Hillside Road and left onto King Edward Street. Turn right onto Bay View Road and left onto Moreau Street before turning left onto Victoria Road and stopping at the Terminus (location not yet defined).

The table to the right lists the bus stops on the route as at 1 June 2015.

Location	Bus Stop ID
Brockville terminus	146
Brockville Rd, outside Community Hall near corner of Cald	137
Brockville Rd, 247	141
Brockvile Rd, 224	133
Brockville Rd, 162	132
Brockville Rd, 110	131
Brockville Rd, 48	136
Kaikorai Valley Rd, 150 outside Mower Centre	451
Kaikorai Valley Rd,70	455
Taieri Rd, opposite 117	978
Stuart St, layby before Highgate	952
Stuart St, opposite Strathmore Cres	956
Stuart St, corner Littlebourne Rd	953
Stuart St, 330 on traffic island below Moana Pool	949
York Place, Jehovah's Witnesses' Church	1025
BUS HUB	
State Highway 1 new stop	XXX
State Highway 1 new stop	XXX
State Highway 1 new stop	XXX
Andersons Bay Rd, 280	25
Hillside Road, NEW	XXX
King Edward Street, 134	484
King Edward Street, 220	475
King Edward Street, 300	477
King Edward Street, 340	478
King Edward Street, 386	480
Bay View Rd, 71	71
Bay View Rd, 87A	72
Bay View Rd, 113	66
Moreau St, 15 NEW	XXX
Moreau St, opp 64 NEW	XXX
St Kilda Terminus NEW adjacent to Freyberg St	XXX

PTC 2015/3 Unit 4 Conditions of Contract Schedule 2 Route details Page 17 of 26

R oute 19 (a) Waverley to Belleknowes

All services

Travel from the Waverley terminus in Murano Street, turning right onto Scobie Road, left onto Belford Street. right onto Eastbank Street, and left onto Scott Street. Turn left at the round-a-bout onto Larnach Road then left onto Marne Street and right onto Somerville Street before turning right onto Musselburgh Rise. Musselburgh Rise will become Andersons Bay Road. Follow Andersons Bay Road to the Oval and turn right onto Princes Street, right into Moray Place, right onto Lower Stuart Street and left into Cumberland Street. Turn left into St Andrew St and left into the city bus Hub at Great King Street. From the bus Hub, turn left onto Moray Place, and turn left onto Princes Street. Turn right onto Rattray Street and right to continue up Rattray Street and on to City Road. Follow City Road to the left onto Ross Street, and left onto Highgate. Continue on to Kenmure Road turning left into Rosebery Street, right into Beaumont Road and right into Napier Street, stopping at the terminus.

The table to the right lists the bus stops on the route as at 1 June 2015.

Location	Bus Stop ID
Murano Street, 64	596
Scobie Rd, opposite Botting Place intersection	834
Belford St, 144	76
Belford St, on reserve opposite 131	79
Belford St, 94 just past Mannering St	78
Belford St, 68	77
Eastbank St, 8	243
Scott St, opposite Scout Hall	835
Larnach Rd, before Marne St	486
Musselburgh Rise, 292	612
Musselburgh Rise, 140	610
Musselburgh Rise, 84	614
Musselburgh Rise, 42	613
Andersons Bay Rd at Hotel 555	19
Andersons Bay Rd, just past Oxford St (KFC)	21
Andersons Bay Rd outside McDonalds	17
Andersons Bay Rd, just past McBride St	20
Andersons Bay Rd, outside Caledonian Gym	22
Andersons Bay Rd, by Oval	18
Princes St, Manor Place cnr	781
Princes St, 398	771
Princes St, 300 (The Exchange)	767
Princes St, 138	770
Cumberland St, Countdown	4
BUS HUB	
Princes St, Dowling St cnr	769
Rattray St, by Southern Cross Carpark	793
Rattray St , 373 above Arthur St	790
Ross St, Robin Hood Park	820
Ross St, 5	818
Ross St, 43	817
Highgate, 8	1101
Kenmure Rd, 39	1100
Kenmure Rd, opposite 84 (End of zone)	1098
Rosebery St, 38	810
Rosebery St, 4	811
Napier St, 7	1043

PTC 2015/3 Unit 4 Conditions of Contract Schedule 2 Route details Page 18 of 26

Route 19 (b) Belleknowes to Waverley

All services

To travel from the Napier Street Street terminus, turn right onto Kenmure Road continue straight onto Highgate. Turn left into Belgrave Crescent and turn around to cross Highgate continuing on to Ross Street. Turn right onto City Road and follow City Road onto Rattray Street, turning left onto Smith Steet and following it as it changes to York Place and St Andrew Street. Turn right into Great King Street Bus Hub. From the Bus Hub, turn left onto Moray Place, then continue on over Lower Stuart Street to turn left onto Princes Street. Travel along Princes Street to the Jervois St and right onto Cumberland Street. Follow Cumberland Street, keeping left until it becomes Andersons Bay Road. Continue along Andersons Bay Road, this becomes Musselburgh Rise. Turn left onto Sommerville Street, and left onto Marne Street. before turning right onto Larnach Road. Follow Larnarch Road turning right onto Murano Street and stopping at the Murano Street terminus.

The table to the right lists the bus stops on the route as at 1 June 2015.

Location	Bus Stop ID
Napier St, 7	1043
Kenmure Rd, 82 (END OF ZONE)	1104
Kenmure Rd, 34	1099
Highgate , 21 (Church)	1102
Highgate , 53	1103
Belgrave Cres, outside side boundary 71 highgate	80
Ross St, 50	819
Ross St, 34	816
Ross St, 10	815
Rattray St, edge of reserve adjacent to Arthur St School (ZO	794
Rattray NEW STOP	XXX
Smith St, NEW STOP	XXX
York PI NEW STOP	XXX
BUS HUB	
Princes St, 155	769
Princes St, 265 Outside Speed Print	773
Princes St, past Jetty St	774
Princes St, Traders opposite Carroll St	778
Jervois St, NEW STOP	XXX
State Highway 1 NEW STOP	XXX
Andersons Bay Rd, outside Mitsubishi Motors	25
Andersons Bay, Mill Liquor Store	28
Andersons Bay Rd, Cooke Howlison	26
Andersons Bay Rd, outside old Countdown	30
Musselburgh Rise, 1 DCC flats	609
Musselburgh Rise, opposite Wardlaw St	616
Muselburgh Rise, 79	618
Musselburgh Rise, 141	611
Musselburgh Rise, edge of Bayfield Park	615
Larnach Rd, opposite 14	1118
Larnach Rd, reserve just past 75 (Waverley)	487
Larnach Rd, 127	1046
Larnach Rd, 175	1058
Larnach Rd, 195	1047
Larnach Rd, 219	1032
Larnach Rd, 239	485
Larnach Rd, 251	488
Murano St, 64 terminus	596

PTC 2015/3 Unit 4 Conditions of Contract Schedule 2 Route details Page 19 of 26

Route 3 (a) Ross Creek to Ocean Grove

All services

To travel from the Ross Creek terminus (Garden Place) turn right onto Tanner Road, and then right onto Glenholm Street, this becomes Glenmore Street. Then turn right onto Fulton Road, right onto Malvern Street, which then becomes Duke Street. From Duke Street, turn right onto George Street, turning left onto St Andrew Street, then right into the Great King Street bus Hub. From the bus Hub, turn left onto Moray Place travelling over Lower Stuart Street and continuing around Moray Place to turn left at Princes Street. Turn left onto Jervois Street, and turn right onto State Highway 1 Cumberland Street (southbound). Follow the State Highway onto Andersons Bay Road continuing straight through the round-a-bout onto Musselburgh Rise. Turn right onto Royal Crescent, left onto Marlow Street, right onto Cavell Street, left onto Tahuna Road to Bay Cemetery at corner of Tahuna Road and Tomahawk Road. Continue on along Tomahawk Road to the Ocean Grove Terminus at the corner of Luke Street and Tomahawk Road.

The table to the right lists the bus stops on the route as at 1 June 2015.

Location	Bus Stop ID
Garden Place, Ross Creek terminus	290
Glenholm St, opposite 55	322
Glenmore St, 38	323
Glenmore St, 6	325
Malvern St, cnr Fulton Rd	289
Malvern St, oppposite 347	558
Malvern St, opposite 311	551
Malvern St, opposite 279	547
Malvern St, 220 (End of zone)	546
Malvern St, 182	544
Malvern St, opposite 145	555
Malvern St, near Rockside Rd	1137
Malvern St, oppposite 63	559
Malvern St, 28	548
Duke St, 18	229
George St, 968	302
George St, 888	301
George St, 798	299
George St, 664	295
George St, 586	293
George St, 504	292
George St, 472 outside Plunket House	308
George St, outside ASB	306
BUS HUB	
Princes St, Dowling St cnr	769
Princes St, Ex Chief Post Office	782
Jervois St, NEW STOP	XXX
State Highway 1 NEW STOP	XXX
Andersons Bay Rd, 280	25
Andersons Bay Rd, 408	28
Andersons Bay Rd outside Cook Howlison	26
Andersons Bay Rd beside old Countdown	30
Musselburgh Rise, 1 Outside DCC flats	609
Royal Cres, 9	822
Royal Cres, St Kilda Bowling Club	826
Royal Cres, Culling Park	823
Marlow St, 79	562
Cavell St, 73	175
Cavell St, 91	176
Cavell St, 123	173
Tahuna Ed past Norman St	958
Tahuna Rd, corner Tomahawk Rd, Bay Cemeter	
Tomahawk Rd, 179	990
Tomahawk Rd by lagoon	991
Tomahawk Rd, 285	992
Tomahawk Rd terminus	994

PTC 2015/3 Unit 4 Conditions of Contract Schedule 2 Route details Page 20 of 26

Route 3 (b) Ocean Grove to Ross Creek

All services

To travel from the Ocean Grove terminus at corner of Tomahawk Road and Luke Street, follow Tomahawk Road onto Tahuna Road, then turn right onto Cavell Street, left into Marlow Street, right into Royal Crescent, then left onto Andersons Bay Road. Follow Andersons Bay Road to the Oval and turn right onto Princes Street turn right into Moray Place and right into the city bus Hub at Great King Street. From the bus Hub, turn left onto St Andrews Street, Right onto George Street and follow George Street to Duke Street. Turn left onto Duke Street, which becomes Malvern Street, and then turn left onto Fulton Road. From Fulton Road, turn left onto Glenmore Street, which becomes Glenholm Street. Turn left onto Tanner Road, and then left into Garden Place - the Ross Creek terminus.

The table to the right lists the bus stops on the route as at 1 June 2015.

Location	Bus Stop ID
Tomahawk Rd, Ocean Grove terminus	995
Tomahawk Rd, outside Ocean Grove Church	993
Tomahawk Rd, Tomahawk Lagoon	997
Tomahawk Rd, romahawk 22goon	1120
Tomahawk Rd, outside Cemetery	996
Tahuna Rd, shelter on golf course	959
Cavell St, 130	174
Cavell St, 112	172
Cavell St, 94	177
Marlow St, 86 (end of zone)	563
Marlow St, 62	561
·	
Royal Cres, opposite Culling Park	825
Royal Cres, opposite 25a	824 821
Royal Cres, before Andersons Bay Rd	_
Andersons Bay Rd, corner Bay View Rd	19
Andersons Bay Rd, by Oxford St (outside KFC)	21
Andersons Bay Rd, at McDonalds	17
Andersons Bay Rd, 353	20
Andersons Bay Rd, Caledonian	22
Andersons Bay Rd, at Oval	18
Princes St, Market Reserve	781
Princes St, 398	771
Princes St,300 (The Exchange)	767
Princes St, 138	770
BUS HUB	
George St outside State Insurance	310
George St, 307	314
George St, 475 Alexis Motor Lodge	309
George St, 607	294
George St, 745	296
George St at Dundas	300
George St, George St Normal School	303
Duke st outside Dairy	231
Malvern St, 3	549
Malvern St, 31	550
Malvern St, 65	552
Malvern St, 79	553
Malvern St, near Rockside Rd	1136
Malvern St, 145	542
Malvern St, opposite 180	543
Malvern St, opposite 218	545
Malvern St, 279	556
Malvern St, 311	557
Malvern St, 339	560
Fulton Rd, 385	288
Glenmore St, opposite 6	326
Glenmore St, 39	324
Glenholm St, 57	321
Tanner Rd, 106	984
Garden Place, Ross Creek terminus	290

PTC 2015/3 Unit 4 Conditions of Contract Schedule 2 Route details Page 21 of 26

Route 61 (a) Kenmure to City

All services

To travel from Kenmure terminus (outside 513 Kaikorai Valley Road) via Kaikorai Valley Road, turn left onto Barr Street, left onto Kenmure Road, right onto Stanley Street, and left into Elgin Road. Turn right onto Mailer Street, and continue on to High Street, turning left at Broadway, right at Rattray Street and left onto Princes Street. Turn right into Moray Place and right into Lower Stuart Street, left onto Cumberland Street and left onto St Andrew Street and left into the Great King Street bus Hub.

The table to the right lists the bus stops on the route as at 1 June 2015.

Location	Bus Stop ID
Kaikorai Valley Rd, Barr St Kenmure Terminus	457
Kenmure Rd, 332 (End of zone)	471
Stanley St, 42	930
Stanley St, 8	929
Elgin Rd, 44	253
Elgin Rd, 16	1033
Mailer St, oposite Mornington Tavern	1048
Mailer St, Mornington terminus (End of zone)	513
Eglinton Rd, opposite Peel St	250
Eglinton Rd, just below Queen Drive	396
High St, 440	394
High St, 412	393
High St, 382	391
High St, 310	389
High St, 246	387
High St, 184	386
Rattray St, Philip Laing House	792
Princes St, 138	770
Cumberland St, Countdown	4
BUS HUB	

PTC 2015/3 Unit 4 Conditions of Contract Schedule 2 Route details Page 22 of 26

Route 61 (b) City to Kenmure

All services

From the Bus Hub, turn left into Moray Place and left into Princes Street. Turn right into Rattray Street, left into Broadway, and right into High Street. Continue on up High Street to Mailer Street, turning left at Elgin Road, right at Stanley Street, and left at Kenmure Road. Turn right at Bryant Street and left onto Kaikorai Valley Road travelling to the Kenmure terminus (outside 513 Kaikorai Valley Road, just before the Barr Street corner).

The table to the right lists the bus stops on the route as at 1 June 2015.

Location	Bus Stop ID
BUS HUB	
Princes St, Dowling St cnr	769
Rattray St, by Southern Cross Carpark	793
High St, 249	388
High St, 327	390
High St, 403	392
High St, opposite High St School	385
Eglinton Rd/High St intersection	251
Eglinton Rd, 154	248
Mailer St, 2 outside Golden Wok	512
Mailer St, 58 just past	514
Elgin Rd, 27	252
Elgin Rd, 71	254
Stanley St, 5	928
Stanley St, 39	927
Bryant St, 3 (end of zone)	152
Kaikorai Valley Rd, corner Bryant St	463
Kaikorai Valley Rd, Barr St Kenmure Terminus	457

PTC 2015/3 Unit 4 Conditions of Contract Schedule 2 Route details Page 23 of 26

Schedule 2 (c)

Route distances and peak bus

PTC 2015/3 Unit 4 Conditions of Contract Schedule 2 Route details Page 24 of 26

Unit 4

Route distances per trip*

Stage 1

Route number	Route	Distance
44a	St Kilda to Halfway Bush	9.66
44b	Halfway Bush to St Kilda	9.69
55a	St Kilda to Brockville	9.81
55b	Brockville to St Kilda	10.01
19a	Waverley to Belleknowes	11.60
19b	Belleknowes to Waverley	11.05
3a	Ross Creek to Ocean Grove	13.54
3b	Ocean Grove to Ross Creek	13.15
61a	Kenmure to City	4.59
61b	City to Kenmure	5.79

*Note:

These distances were calculated using the Otago Regional Council's GIS system. No positioning of vehicles is incorporated. Go Bus should confirm their own measurement within its tender.

Stage 1A - Operational bus hub

Route number	Route	Distance
44a	St Kilda to Halfway Bush	10.19
44b	Halfway Bush to St Kilda	9.43
55a	St Kilda to Brockville	10.12
55b	Brockville to St Kilda	10.08
19a	Waverley to Belleknowes	11.84
19b	Belleknowes to Waverley	11.22
3a	Ross Creek to Ocean Grove	13.62
3b	Ocean Grove to Ross Creek	13.35
61a	Kenmure to City	4.90
61b	City to Kenmure	5.01

PTC 2015/3 Unit 4 Conditions of Contract Schedule 2 Route details Page 25 of 26

Peak bus assessment∞

Stage 1 and 1A

Route	Number of buses
St Kilda Halfway Bush Brockville	6
Waverley Belleknowes	4
Ross Creek Ocean Grove	3
Kenmure	2
Total	15

[∞]Note: These are peak bus numbers based on an Otago Regional Council assessment. Go Bus shall undertake its own assessment and shall confirm its peak bus assessment within its tender.

PTC 2015/3 Unit 4 Conditions of Contract Schedule 2 Route details Page 26 of 26

Schedule 3 - Route Maps

PDF to be inserted page

PTC 2015/2 Unit 1 Conditions of Contract Schedule 3 Route maps Page 1 of 1

Replaced by completed Schedule

Schedule 4 - Bond Agreement

Otago Regional Council

Bond for Performance of Passenger Transport Service Contract

Contract for	RFT 2015/3 Unit 4	
This Bond is gi	ven on	2015
Ву		("the Contractor")
And		("the Surety")

The Bond is given in the following circumstances:

- A. The Contractor has entered into a contract with THE OTAGO REGIONAL COUNCIL ("the Council") to provide passenger bus transport services ("the Contract").
- B. The Contract between the Council and the Contractor requires the Contractor to provide the Council with security in the form of a bond to secure performance of the Contractor's obligations under the Contract.

By this Bond

- The Contractor and the Surety are jointly and severally held and bound to the Council in the sum of \$ and bind themselves, their successors and assigns jointly and severally for the payment of that sum to the Council on demand on the following terms:
- 2 This bond shall be null and void if
 - a. The Council notifies the Contractor and the Surety that the Contractor has duly carried out and fulfilled all the obligations imposed on the Contractor by the Contract.
 - b. The Contractor provides the Council with a substitute Bond in form and substance satisfactory to the Council.
 - c. The Surety at any time deposits with the Council the amount of the bond or such lesser amount as may be required by the Council.
- 3 The Surety shall not be released from any liability under this bond:
 - a. By an alteration in the terms of the contract between the Council and the Contractor.
 - By any alteration in the extent, nature or length of the Contract between the Contractor and the Council.
 - c. By any forbearance or waiver by the Council in respect of any of the Contractor's obligations or in respect of any default on the part of the Contractor.

PTC 2015/2 Unit 1 Conditions of Contract Schedule 4 Bond Page 1 of 3

- 4 No party may assign or transfer its rights or obligations without the prior written consent of the other parties.
- 5 The liability of the Surety is limited to the amount of the bond.
- The liability of the Contractor is not limited to the amount of the bond.
- If the Surety receives at its address for service any demand purported to be signed by or on behalf of the Council that the Council requires payment of the whole or any part of the amount of the bond, the Surety unconditionally and irrevocably undertakes to pay immediately to the Council the amount demanded, without set off or counterclaim or deduction of any kind (whether on behalf of the Surety or the Contractor); such payment shall be made without reference to the Contractor and without further enquiry of the Council. Payment must be made by the Surety despite any notice or request by the Contractor that the Surety not pay the whole or any part of the sum demanded by the Council. Payment must be made in cleared funds to the bank account nominated by the Council.
- 8 This bond shall expire at midnight on 31 March 2025.

Executed by	Executed by
in the presence of	in the presence of
Witness:	Witness:
Occupation	Occupation
Address:	Address:
Council's Address for Service:	
Physical:	
Postal:	
Fax:	

PTC 2015/2 Unit 1 Conditions of Contract Schedule 4 Bond Page 2 of 3

Contractor's Address for Service:
Physical:
Postal:
Fax:
Surety's Address for Service:
Physical:
Postal:
Fax:

PTC 2015/2 Unit 1 Conditions of Contract Schedule 4 Bond Page 3 of 3

Schedule 5 - Vehicle Quality Standards

Peak vehicle minimum seating requirements

1. The following table provides the minimum seating requirements for each route;

Route	Minimum seating requirement peak	Minimum capacity including standing requirement peak
St Kilda, Halfway Bush, and Brockville	45	55
Belleknowes – Waverley	42	55
Ross Creek – Ocean Grove	42	55
Kenmure	36	45

Vehicle Standards

- 1 The Contractor must only use vehicles specifically approval by Council in writing for the use on the service.
 - 1.1 Vehicles approved for use in Unit 5 Southern Routes for use from 1 July 2016 may be used on these services providing the capacity meets passenger demand.
- Each vehicle used or proposed to be used must conform to the requirements the "Requirements for Urban Buses in New Zealand New Zealand's common standard for urban bus quality (2014)" (RUB).
 - 2.1 For the avoidance of doubt Council will only consider vehicles under section 8 of RUB for backup vehicles and where in Council's sole opinion the vehicle is substantially compliant with all other aspects of RUB.
- 3 Each vehicle used for the Service must also conform to the following requirements;:

- 3.1 Each bus to be used for the Service under this contract must be fitted with a bicycle rack, with a minimum capacity of two bicycles and of a type approved by Council, prior to the commencement of the Service. The cost of the equipment, its installation, maintenance, and insurance shall be at the Contractor's expense. A bus may only be used in Service if an approved bicycle rack is fitted.
- 3.2 All vehicles must at all times be maintained to certificate of fitness standard and in accordance with the manufacturers recommendations:
- 3.3 All vehicles must have an air conditioning climate control fresh air system installed and operational at all times;
- 3.4 All vehicles must be fitted with sufficient heating, cooling, and ventilation to provide a stable interior environment reasonable level of comfort for passengers. This will generally mean as a minimum two under seat heaters.
- 3.5 All vehicles must have air suspension and operational kneeling capability.
- 3.6 All vehicles must bear a standard livery (which includes company logo) approved by Council, any advertising is subject to these conditions of contract.
- 3.7 No new bus entering the fleet for use in the Service will be permitted to use dot matrix signs for external digital displays after 1 July 2016 unless the contractor can demonstrate that the display does not disadvantage the visually impaired and that use of the display is expressly approved by Council in writing.
- 3.8 All vehicles must have a facility that ensures instant voice communications between the depot, office, or "base" at all times of operation.
- From 1 July 2017, the Contractor must at all times use in the Service fleet vehicles, including back up vehicles, which has an average age of less than 10 years since original manufacture.
- 5 For the avoidance of doubt:
 - 5.1 Backup vehicles must be nominated and conform to these vehicle quality standards prior to the commencement of service;
 - 5.2 Nominated backup vehicles will be included in the calculation of the average age of the fleet.
- If the Contractor intends to use backup vehicles provided by another person, the Contractor must at least 10 working days before commencement of the service, provide written evidence to the Council of the agreement of the other person and that agreement must give the Contractor priority to the use of the backup vehicle, when required to maintain the service. All such buses must comply with all aspects of these standards.

Vehicle Service Condition

- 1 The Contractor must present all vehicles for use in the service in a clean and tidy condition.
- 2 All vehicles used in the service must be safe for use by the public.
- 3 The Contractor must ensure that all vehicles are kept clean while in service.
- The Contractor must ensure that the exterior and interior of vehicles presented for Service each day are free from dirt, grime and any other defect, to the Council's satisfaction acting reasonably.
- The Contractor must repair all damage to upholstery, floorings, body work and paint work within three working days.
- 6 The Contractor must remove graffiti on a daily basis.

The Contractor must maintain all vehicles which may be used in the Service in good working order

Otago Regional Council new Bus Check Sheet

Operator

Vehicle Make and Model

Registration Number

Seating Capacity

Standing Capacity

Design and Performance	Measurement	Pass/Fail
Vehicle Age		
Chassis		
Must be fit for purpose- and comply with the Heavy Vehicle Rules eg Land Transport Rule- Vehicle Dimension and Mass 2002 and PSV Rule 1999		
Of appropriate design to provide 20 years of reliable service		
Engine		
0-50km/hr ≤30 seconds		
Fuel range ≥ 350km or 15 hours		
Emissions (Current Vehicle Emissions Rule) preference for Drive by Test		
Power train management system- enables settings for economy and power operations are highly desirable		
Compartment insulation- non-flammable material used. Fire to ISO 3795 (1998) or FMVSS 302 US standard or equivalent ECE standard.		
Transmission		
Fully automatic or electronic shift plus retarder		
Suspension		
ECAS including self-levelling.		
Kneeling at front door ≥60mm drop/lift,		
Driver controlled with in-use indicator/drive-off		
protection. Kneel or rise time <8 seconds.		
Stability and steering		
ESC/ESP is desirable.		
Braking		
EBS and ABS- blend of EBS, ABS and ASR acceptable		
providing the system complies with ECE R13		
Accessibility		

One multi-use/ wheelchair space on nearside of vehicle	
Four seating positions preferably offside (at least two	
forward facing)	
<u>Doors</u>	
Two doors – Large Bus , One door Small Bus	
Front ≥1000mm double leaf	
Rear ≥700mm single leaf	
Step height/depth	
Preference for a rear door/brake safety interlock	
system	
Step Heights/Depths	
Mandatory kneeling	
Front ≤370mm	
Rear ≤370 mm	
Kneeled ≤280mm (19.5inch rims)	
<u>Floors</u>	
Slip resistant (AS 3696.13)	
Recommend a 70% minimum visual contrast (RTS 14 section 5.3 and AS/NZS1428.4)	
Include wheelchair signage on floor	
Contrasting colour- front and rear door/exit step area	
Multi-use/Wheelchair area	
Priority seat area	
Flat floor to rear edge of rear door	
Stepped access at rear- maximum of 2 steps	
Aisle Width	
≥800mm through wheel arches	
≥440mm priority seats to the rear	
Seating configuration	
≥60% of the total seated capacity shall be forward	
facing	
≥50% forward facing in the priority seating	
Seat spacing between forward facing seats shall be ≥670mm	
Leg room shall be \geq 300mm measured horizontally from the front edge of the seat squab to the seat back	

in front or any modesty or refety namel	
in front or any modesty or safety panel.	
The use of fixed or fold-up inward facing seats in any other areas of the bus than the multi-use/ wheelchair	
space and priority area is discouraged (must comply	
with PSV Rule 1999	
Seat height from floor ≥400mm and ≥500mm.	
The height at the back of the seat excluding any grab	
handle should be ≥900mm.	
Seat Design	
Single seat ≥425mm	
Double bench or paired ≥875mm	
Parent/caregiver and child on front wheel arch	
≥760mm	
Seat spacing ≥670mm	
Luggage/ Strollers/Prams/Mobility Devices	
sufficient protected space for ≤25kg item with	
dimensions ≤ 800 mm x ≤ 300 mm.	
Vehicle Interior, Entrance and Exit	
Step and Plinth Height	
Door entry and exits shall have full width step edges	
fitted with a distinctive yellow high-visibility, slip	
resistant/ non-trip nosing	
No Sharks tooth pattern	
Stanchions/Handrails	
Vertical high-visibility contrasting yellow colour	
stanchions	
Along length of bus and not impede movement on	
aisle, spacing at least on alternative seats.	
Additional handrails in entry and exit locations	
Overhead contrasting colour handrails should be no	
higher than 1900mm, unless fitted with straps hangers	
to reach below this height.	
Maximum cross-section dimension in the range of 30-	
35mm and should be circular or elliptical	
Finger/hand clearance space of between 35 and 45mm	
between any part of the vehicle and all parts of the	
handrail other than its mountings (preference for	

45mm)	
Grab Handles	
Circular or elliptical cross section of 30-35mm	
Fingers and hand clearance space as for handrails ie 35 to 45mm	
Length should be at least 100mm but preference for 120mm	
Lighting	
Must be adequate as per section 6.15(3) of the PSV Rule 1999	
Internal entry and exit doorway externally downwards and outwards for ≥ 300 mm beyond the step edge to a level of ≥ 100 Lux, extinguished on door closure	
Fare paying area ≥65lux	
General saloon behind driver's modesty panel ≥40lux	
Safety and security	
Wiring for CCTV-minimum of 3-2 internal and 1 located in front of the driver to view the fare paying and saloon areas	
Heating, ventilation and air conditioning	
Adequate saloon heating and ventilation e.g. forced air system with a mix of hopper or sliding side windows and roof vents (may not be required if air conditioning is mandatory)	
ORC requires air conditioning	
Communications	
Section 6.12 of the Land Transport Rule: Passenger Service Vehicles 1999 requires that there be a means of communication with the driver but it is not specific.	
Bus stopping signals	
Fitted with dual indicator bus stopping signalling and display devices and heard by the driver and the passengers (one rearward facing and a 2 nd forward and rearward facing repeater located near the rear door)	
Easily reached by any person seated in a priority seating area or wheelchair area without having to stand up, eg fitted on side walls below the window	
frame or on stanchions or horizontal handrails	

Easily used by elderly and disabled people with poor hand and finger function or dexterity	
High visibility yellow mounting holding a red push signal	
Adjacent to and not less than every second row of seats on both sides of the aisle	
Fitted to the underside of any fold-up seat fitted in the multi-use/wheelchair space if the other bell	
push is obscured by the fold-up seat.	
The dashboard indicator shall have two components: a general signal and a second signal to indicate to the driver that the signal has been made by a passenger occupying a wheelchair or priority seating position	
The device shall trigger both an audible and visual indication to the driver, and passenger	
Finger/thumb/knuckle push buttons on the vertical stanchions at a height of ≥1300mm and	
≤1600mm above floor level	
Finger/thumb/knuckle push buttons on the bus side panels at a height of \geq 850mm and \leq 1050mm	
particularly in the priority seating area or on the undersides of folding seats.	
Finger/thumb/knuckle push buttons fitted as near as possible to the top edge of any fold up seat for	
use when the seat is in the fold up position if the side wall button is obscured	
External destination display	
Front and rear route number characters shall be ≥150mm. Front destination characters shall be ≥125mm. Side route number and destination characters shall be ≥60mm. Wide rear destination signage similar to a front destination sign is desirable	
Near side, as close as possible to the front entrance, a	

route number and destination repeater sign	
preferably fitted at the top of the first side window so	
that it can be seen over the heads of any queuing	
passengers.	
Internal Information	
Electronic information displays and announcements-	
ducting and mounting must be ready for fitting at a	
later date	
<u>Driver operational communication</u>	
For urban services with more than five vehicles in	
service at any one time, a two way radio shall be	
provided	
Facilities for passengers with impairments	
Priority seating area	
Priority seating area well to the forward end of the	
saloon with at least four preferably all forward	
facing seats identified for passengers with impairments	
or extra mobility needs. These seats may be of the	
folding type in order to facilitate wheelchair access and	
stowage. Any fold-up seat must be capable of being	
held in the stowed position.	
A separate space of dimensions not less than 800mm	
by 1300mm to cater for a wheelchair with a	
footprint of \leq 700mm width x \leq 1200mm length and its	
user (see subsection 6.3).	
Contrasting easily seen signage to indicate the area	
and request to vacate seats for use by	
passengers with disability/mobility needs along the	
following lines:	
'Priority seating area – Please vacate these seats for	
elderly or disabled passengers or parents/caregivers	
with children.'	
<u>Wheelchairs</u>	
In the Land Transport Rule: Passenger Service Vehicles	
1999 it is mandatory to fit a restraint if a forward	
facing wheelchair position is provided. There is no	
mandatory requirement to fit restraints if the	
wheelchair position is rearward facing (but a restraint	
"may" be fitted), but a backrest head support is	
mandatory.	

Footprint to be provided for forward or rearward facing stowage \leq 700mm width $x \leq$ 1200mm length	
If transverse stowed, with handles and foot rest capable of being folded or stowed ≤700mm width x ≤900mm length	
To carry a minimum of one wheelchair (preferably rearward facing and on the nearside)	
Any wheelchair restraints, if fitted, must be located so that they are capable of being used by the	
wheelchair occupant unaided, current floor-mounted restraints do not usually meet this requirement	
For rearward facing wheelchair locations fitted with ironing board-style backrests, there is no	
requirement for restraints to be fitted or used. There should be signage to indicate that any wheelchair brakes and lap belts should be applied irrespective of the orientation of the wheelchair.	
Any passenger safety/modesty panel and any associated vertical stanchion fitted immediately behind	
the multi-use/wheelchair space should be designed so that it does not hinder the manoeuvring of the wheelchair user and wheelchair in to and out of the wheelchair space. Clearance for the wheelchair user's feet and/or foot plates under any panel while manoeuvring is desirable.	
International wheelchair symbol for accessibility sign shall be provided on the bus internal side wall and must be incorporated into the flooring.	
Externally two international wheelchair symbols for accessibility should be provided, one on the front left of the bus and one on the side of the bus by the front door entrance.	
Boarding and alighting	
Shall have kneeling capacity	
A sign stating 'This bus kneels on request' shall be provided on the exterior of the bus adjacent to the front door.	
Ramp	

	T	 1
A manually-operated flip-over style ≥800mm width		
ramp shall be provided at the front door		
Desirably the ramp hinges and lifting rings or handles		
should be countersunk/flush with the floor		
High-contrast yellow, flat ramp edge marker strips are		
preferred over the raised metal edges.		
The ramp surface material must be slip resistant		
A wall mounted sign adjacent to the front door		
(preferably pictorial) shall indicate the permitted		
maximum weight of the ramp e.g., 300kgs and		
maximum weight of the famp e.g., 500kgs and maximum width of any wheelchair or pram that can be		
carried by the bus i.e., 700mm (excluding the user).		
carried by the bus i.e., 700mm (excluding the user).		
A powered ramp may be fitted provided it meets the		
requirements of section 8.2 of the Land Transport		
Rule: Passenger Service Vehicles 1999.		
Driver Compartment		
·		
A fully sprung driver's seat with adjustment for all		
three planes of driving position.		
the driver's seat suspension should be capable of		
being adjusted to cater for varying driver weight.		
<u> </u>		
A readily adjustable (tilt and height) steering wheel		
column and soft style easily-cleaned, and		
dried, steering wheel.		
A footrest for the left foot.		
A footrest for the left foot.		

Coat/jacket storage, eg hook.	
Out-of-sight storage for personal belongings such as bag/lunchbox.	
Ticketing equipment and till stand should be	
ergonomically located.	
On-board security	
Barrier protection panel immediately behind the driver to prevent any form of assault from	
anver to prevent any form of assuart from	
behind, either directly by a passenger or by a thrown object.	
A revenue collection and holding system so that the driver's cash can be readily and securely	
driver 3 cash can be readily and securely	
locked into a cash box that can be secured to the	
bus,	

Schedule 6 - Annual Business Planning

- Annual business planning enables goal setting over a three year rolling timeframe.

 The Contractor and ORC will work on a service implementation plan prior to contract commencement. The business plan will identify critical success factors and external factors that lead to poor performance and methods to work towards addressing these.
- The Business Development Plan (BDP) will set out activities in the form of resourced project plans (action plans), to be carried out during the ensuing 12-month period and may include but will not be limited to:
 - 2.1 Service improvement initiatives;
 - 2.2 Plans for the development and/or introduction of new services
 - 2.3 Plans for the development and/or introduction of new technology initiatives:
 - 2.4 Identify and discuss options for underperforming services;
 - 2.5 Infrastructure projects;
 - 2.6 Plans for the development and/or introduction of new technology;
 - 2.7 Co-branding or promotion of services;
 - 2.8 Performance review against BDP targets; and
 - 2.9 Any other joint business and/or marketing activities.

In July of each year the contract manager and the Contractor will review:

- 2.10 Achievements against critical success factors;
- 2.11 Achievements against any joint business planning goals;
- 2.12 Achievement against the KPIs;
- 2.13 Performance of the service:
- 2.14 Patronage levels;
- 2.15 Fare revenue; and
- 2.16 Compliments, complaints and responses to complaints.
- The Business Development Plan will be evaluated prior to services commencing and reviewed annually. Council and the Contractor will each nominate a representative to manage the business planning process. This will be a standing item on monthly contract management meetings.

Schedule 7 - Financial Incentive Mechanism

- The Financial Incentive Mechanism (FIM) recognises both the role of the Council and the Contractor in growing patronage and reducing reliance on subsidy. The FIM will share 15% of the net revenue growth (excluding Super Gold) with the Contractor, recognising the current level of commerciality that exists in Otago and the desire to continue growing patronage.
- In year 1 (Y1) the FIM payment by the Council to the Contractor shall be calculated as follows:
 - Y1 FIM payment = (actual fare revenue (excluding SuperGold) estimated fare revenue as set out in the RFP) x 0.15
- 3 In year 2 (Y2) the FIM payment shall be calculated as follows:
 - Y2 FIM payment = (Y2 actual fare revenue (excluding SuperGold) estimated fare revenue as set out in the RFP) x 0.15
- 4 In year 3 and subsequent years (Yn), the FIM payment shall be calculated as follows:

Yn FIM payment = (Yn actual fare revenue (excluding SuperGold)— Y2 actual fare revenue(excluding SuperGold)) x 0.15

For example:

Year 1 FIM

Estimated fare revenue = \$620,000

Revenue year 1= \$640,000

\$640,000-\$620,000= \$20,000 additional revenue

 $20,000 \times 0.15 = -3,000$

Year 2 FIM payment = \$3000 owed to Contractor

Year 2 FIM

Estimated fare revenue = \$620,000

Revenue year 2= \$600,000

\$600,000-\$620,000= -\$20,000 additional revenue

 $-20,000 \times 0.15 = -3,000$

Year 2 FIM payment = nil

Year 3 FIM

Revenue year 2= \$600,000

Revenue year 3= \$650,000

\$650,000-\$600,000= \$50,000 additional revenue

 $50,000 \times 0.15 = 7,500$

Year 3 FIM payment = \$7,500 owed to Contractor

Year 4 FIM

Revenue year 3= \$650,000

Revenue year 4= \$690,000

\$690,000-\$600,000= \$90,000 additional revenue

\$90,000 x 0.15= \$13,500

Year 4 FIM payment = \$13,500 owed to Contractor

- 5 There will be no deductions in years 1-2 if the FIM payment is negative.
- After year 2 if the FIM payment is negative, except for the circumstances outlined in 8 below the contractor must pay Council the FIM.

Example

Year 3 FIM

Revenue year 2= \$600,000

Revenue year 3= \$580,000

\$580,000-\$600,000= -\$20,000 reduction in revenue

-\$20,000 x 0.15= -\$3,000

Year 3 FIM payment = \$3,000 owed to Council

- Where the fare revenue increases or decreases by + or 10% from the previous year's actual fare revenue then the Council and the Contractor will review the FIM and may by agreement, and each party acting reasonably, adjust the % share.
- If the Council decreases fares in the fare schedule, and if the calculation of the FIM shows as a direct result of the fare reductions, the Contractor owes money to Council, then Council must not claim its FIM entitlement from the Contractor.

Otago Regional Council Conditions of Contract

DRAFT

Schedule 8- Key Performance Indicators

- 1 Council will monitor and report on a number of key performance indicators (KPIs) for public transport. Additional KPIs may be developed as part of the business planning process.
- In order to fulfil Council's requirements the Contractor must provide, in a format acceptable to the Council, the following information
- The Council and the Contractor will review the KPI's and targets annually through the business planning process.
- 4 After consultation with the Contractor the Council may acting reasonably change or add to the KPI's
- 5 The Key Performance Indicators, reporting obligations, and targets are:

Attribute	Key Performance Indicator	Reporting Period	Target
Reliability	Number of scheduled trips that were cancelled	Monthly and Quarterly	0% (unless good cause)
Note: a trip leaving the origin stop	Percentage of scheduled trips that were cancelled	Quarterly	0% (unless good cause)
>59 seconds early or >4 minutes and	Percentage of trips completed in full	Quarterly	100% (unless good cause)
59 seconds late is deemed not	Percentage of trips completed in full peak	Quarterly	100% (unless good cause)
to have operated i.e. are considered cancelled	Percentage of trips completed in off-peak	Quarterly	100% (unless good cause)
Punctuality	Number and Percentage of scheduled trips leaving Terminus (origin stop) between 59 seconds before and 4 minutes and 59 seconds after the scheduled departure time	Monthly and Quarterly	100% (unless good cause)
	Percentage of scheduled trips between 59 seconds before and 4 minutes and 59 seconds after the scheduled departure time at	Quarterly	100% (unless good cause)

DRAFT

	the key timing points and/or end termini		
Service	In-service bus kms: the distance travelled by all buses per month while available to passengers	Quarterly	NZTA reporting requirement
	In-service bus hours: the total hours that all public transport buses are providing services per month	Monthly	NZTA reporting requirement
Safety and security	Maintain and provide an incident register that as a minimum records: Nature of the incident Severity Third party involvement Health and safety matters Time, date and location Outcome of any investigation Including the requirements of the Health and Safety in Employment Act (and/or	Monthly	All incidents reported in accordance with the endorsed Health and Safety Plan required timeframes All investigations undertaken in accordance with the endorsed Health and Safety Plan required timeframes All mitigation measures identified through the investigations have been implemented. O incidents involving injury. NZTA Operator Rating System 5 Star rating maintained.
	any subsequent Act) and the NZTA Operator Rating System.	Annually	Health and Safety plan has been audited and any corrective actions undertaken.
Fleet	Comparison of fleet composition in use with tendered fleet composition and vehicle replacement policy conducted at random intervals	Annually	Fleet profile in accordance with Contract. Vehicle replacements undertaken in accordance with the replacement policy provided at tender or as agreed through the

DRAFT

	T	1	annual huaireas
			annual business planning process
			planning process
	% of trips undertaken by back-up bus or buses	Monthly	<3%
	Maintain and provide an updated fleet profile that includes for each bus:	Quarterly	
	Bus number		
	Registration number		
	Statement re RUB compliance		
	 Applicable Euro Standard 		
	• Age		
	Number of seats		
	Proposed vehicle replacements	Annually	Vehicle replacements in accordance with the replacement policy provided at tender or as agreed through the annual business planning process
Customer Feedback		Quarterly	< 1 substantiated complaint per 1000 trips regarding vehicle cleanliness and comfort. All complaints resolved within 10 days.
			< 1 substantiated complaint per 3000 trips regarding punctuality, and driver behaviour
			< 1 substantiated complaint per 3000 about incorrect fare charges